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PREF ACE

In ]anuary last the Past-Graduate Counml in Arts granted

“me six weeks’ leave and a sum of Rs, 200 to epable me to '
-~ visit Goa and study the Pﬂrtugtlese sources of Maratha History
ﬁ.',‘avallable there. [ spent about five weeks at Pangim and
‘worked both in the Bibliotheca Nacional and the State
Archives. ~ The Hon’ble Sir Ewart Greaves, Vice-Chancellor of
the Calcutta University, took a kindly interest in my work and
he not only gave me a letter of introduotion and recommenda-

tion but also secured a similar letter from [H. E. the Chancellor.

I shall fail in my duty if I do not publicly express my gratitude
“'to both of them. H. E. Dr, Jaime de Morais, Governor-General
- of Portuguese India, very generously gave me a full and unquali~
fied permission to read and copy all panuscripts in his palace
~and 1 obtained courteous and ungrudging help from his Chief of

“the - Cabinet, Prof. Plssurlenchr Sr. Sukthankar and’ belgeant“.;_.

“Carneiro to all of whom I shall always remain indebted. I am’ |
_'.'s1m11ar1y obliged to the officers in charge of the Blblmlheua ;_
“Nacional, whose courtesy and readmess o help a foreigner [
_:_"shall never forget, My thanks are also due to Mr. P amatha-
nath Banerjee for pmmptly pubhshmg this Report in the

-":-"Calcutta Review. and to Mr., A..C. Ghdtal{, MA. for- varmus-_:j:;_l}_.

=_?'-_:_'-help 1 reﬂelved from: hlm. Dr. P Braganga Cunha Ims plaaad’:.'__'5“'.
“me under great obligations. by revising the manuseripts, .
. The Goa records unfortunately have been aadly neglected' o

'm the past. It is only . during the enhghtened administration .

of Dr. Ja:me de MDraIS that some arrangements have been

'.__;__made for . the:r sortmg and . preservatlon The old volumesﬁi'x

_'_':were formerl)’ EXPOSed tu ram and Lhe mdustry Of papzer_'_"
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moths has left so many wvisible marks on them, that I
have not been able to take the fullest advantage of H. E. the
Governor-General’s permission. The time at my disposal was
limited and the faint writings on crumbling moth-eaten papers
generally took an unusually long time to decipher, I therefore
confined myself to one section of the records and left the
rest for a future oceasion. [ do not know when I shall be able
to pay a second visit to the delightful little metropolis of the
charming district thal now forms a part of the Portuguese
Republic ; but, in the meantime, I beg Lo present the following
pages to my fellow-workers and colleagues in the domam of
Maratha History for their considered opinion as to the value

of the Portuguese sources,



HISTORICAL RECORDS AT GOA

The Portupgdese were the first Furopean hation lo visil
India by an entirely uiaritime roule. Vasco da Gama
artivad at Calicut in 1498. He was followed by other
faval leaders ahd diplomdtic relation was soon established with
the petty rulers of the South, ﬁhey oblained a permancnt
foothold in India when Albuquetgque took possession of (rod
for the second time. But they ditl not confine their activities
to commerce alone. Some of the Porluguese adventurers
comthitted piracy in Indian wateis, while others found a
suitable outlet for their milltary ardour in {he arinies ol native
princes. It s odminonly believed that the superiority of
European arms and military diseipline was fot the first time
demonsirated in India by the French, when Dupleix repulsed
frotr the rampatts of Madtas the nutherous hordes ol Anwar-
uddin, Nawab of Arcol, But long before thal event Pacheco
aiil his hindred comrades had earned an elernal fame for their
country and countrymert by their gallant defence of Cochin
against an army of 50,000 seni*by the Zadmorin, Portuguese
military adventurers were thexeafter weléomed By every Deccan
princeé. They fought for the Rafa of Vijaydnagai against his
Muslim enemies, they entered the armyesof the Raja of
Canara, they served in the aitillery ol the celebrated Bahadur
Shah of Gupat and the Poiluguese pirates soon exiended their
sphere of activity to the Bay of Bengal. They played an
important part in Indian History for more than a cenlury and
their records cannol but throw a flood of light on many of
its obscure corners, It is well known that Sewel based
his classical work on the Idstory of Vijayanagar upon (wo
'Portuguese chronicles published by Prof, David Lopez of Lisbon
under the title of CRronica dos Reys de Bisnaga, Grant
Diaff makes many relerences o  Poituguese records, in his

immortal History of the Maradhas. The India Office ~:]e]7:ul,(:t:11III
£
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Frederick Charles Dapvers to study the Porluguese records at
Lisbon and Evora and the results of his labours have bheen
embodied in two stout volumes on the Portuguese in India,
But much has yet to be done, The old kingdom of Vijayanagar
and the now defunct Maratha empire were not the only Indian
powers with whom the Portuguese had political and commercial
dealings, Their correspondence with the kings of Bijapur,
whom they call Idalxa or I#ulcho, cannot be salely ignored by
a student of the history of that kingdom. Nor can a historian
of Mysore afford to be indifferent to the numerous let{ers
addressed by successive Viceroys and Secretaries of State to
Hyder Ali, Tipu, Hayat Saheb, Raghunath Angria, the Admiral
of Hyder's fleetand others. What light the Portuguese
1ecords, when carefully and critically studied, can throw on the
history of our own province has been shown by the Rev.
Fr, Hosten, but I cannot pass on without quoting some extracts
from one document which has hitherto received but little notice
though it has been published in Judice Biker's monumental
collection of ireaties and peace. The original is In Portugal
and not at Goa, bul"its importance affords ample justification
for its reproduction here. I#js a treaty between Paramananda,
Raja of Chandradwip or Bakla and Dom Constantino de
Braganza, Viceroy of India,~concluded at Goa on the aoth

Apri]l 1559' ™
[. TREATY WITH THE RAJA OF BAKLA.

Very little is known about Paramananda, except thai he
succeeded his maternal grandfather Kiishna Ballava on the
throne of Kachua, Mr. Beveridge writes, ‘“He was the son
of Balabhadra Bosu, and with lurn commenced the Bosu f{amily.
Parmanand: was succeeded by Jagadanand, who was drowned
in the Ganges,” Il appears that fhe” King of Rakla had
sent lwo envoys, Nematcao and Guannu Bysuar,'to Goa:

' Oan it be Kanu or @laut Biawna ?
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The former was undoubledly a Muhammadan, as his name
Niamat Khan' shows, the latler name has been however
cortupted beyond recognition, bul probably he was a Hindu
as he is styled in the preamble of the (realy as Veedo
da fazenda de El Rei, Parmananda Ray, Rei de Bacalaa
or the Dewan of Raja Paramananda, King of Bakla. The
first article of the treaty provides that, Iis Highness the
King of Bakla will open the port of Bakla o1 any other porl
in his kingdom that may be convenient, so that the ships and
boats f the Portuguese, as were willing, might go there with
his license in the same manner as they used (o go lo the grea
port of Bengal (Chittagong) and to other poris of that coast
from Paigho to the port of Bakla, with their goods anc
merchandise, not being spoils of war, and no ship of the said
Portuguese nor their goods shall go to the said ports thal were
on the said coast from Paigho to Bakla and also Lhat the
Capitho mor (Chief Captain or Commodore) who leave [or
Chitltagong and the Portuguese ships shall go there no more
but all shald go Lo the said portl of Bakla and any one who may
do the contrary shall be punished and all persons carrying on
trade there (with Chittagong) sha;l]..lose their ships and goods
which will be confiscated by my master the King and they will
be punished as rebels, The port,,selected by the King of Bakla
for the said purpose shall be such as will afford security (o the
ships, provided that the above.mentioned limit from Paigho (o
Bakala shall not be outside the boundary of Bengal and (he

Chittagong coast, N
The second article lays down that all Portuguese and

their vessels that may go to the said port of the King of Bakla
to buy or sell goods shall pay the ancient custom dutics of the

said port and the said dutieg will notl be in any way raised o
enhanced, According to the third article the King of Bakly

made himsell responsible for supplying the Portuguese ships

-

* Thera i o villagoe onllod Niempti n the Distriol of Bakargungo,
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visiting his port with all commodities and merchandisa Lhat
were manufactured in the whole of the coast land from Paigho
to Bakla so that the ships might not return withoul the ecargo
that could be purchased in the couniry or oould be procured
by an agreement between the Portuguese and the merchants
who bring them or the said king and his officers should they
happen to possess them. The fourth article lays down that
the said king shall not permil gny tyranny or injuslice to be
committed against the Portuguese Captain-mor and merchantis
in his port and in his lands but he will show them all, favour
and give them all help that contribute to {riendly relalions and
nduce them to come there in the future.

The Portuguese in their turn were naturally willing to
reciprocate and the [ith article deals with the concessions
that they were to make in favour of the Bengali Raja and
his subjeots. The Viceroy undertook to furnish them each
year with four cartazes (passports or naval license) so that
four of his ships could freely navigate in diflerent parts of
the Indian Ocean. Two of these cariases were leor two ships
ooing to the city of &oa where they were to pay the duties
for the goods lhey might qoarry and in casc they (atled Lo
come to the said cily for loss of time or monsocon or on
any other accouni they might 20 Lo any other part of Goa
but they were to pay theiw duties for the carge atl the custem
house of Goa as If they had come to. that city. One ship, of
the Bakla Raja was permitted Lo go to Urmuz (Ormuz) and
another to Malaquas (Molucca) but they were not, Lo visil any
port belonging to the enemies of the Portuguese. Tho sixih
article says that in case the said king have war with other kings,
lords and chieftains, the Captain-mor who may be there shal
give him all necessary help yith all the Portuguecse against
his enemies and the said Raja shall pay tho expensos of all
who enter his service and he will furthes have Lo puayd against
all loss that the Portuguese may suffer in their goods in helping

" him. The seventh artiole showg that the King of Bakla was
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to occupy a somewhat subordinate position Lo that of the King
of Portugal for he was Lo pay an annual tribute in the said porl
and the tribute was to consist of the {ollowing articles

Five thousand candis® of good fresh rice {or the provision

of His Highness's store-house and fleet

One hundred candis of good and packed butter.

One hundred candis of couniry oil packed

One hundred candis of "Tar.

Fifty fardos * of good white sugar.

JFifty scores of traquetea® cloths and fifty scoies of
mazaguayna* cloths.

All these were to be of a qualily as one merchanl would
accept of another and were to be delivered to the Captain.
mor who might go there for them or Lo any olher person
appointed by His Highness or the Veedor da fazenda da
India for this puwpose, and il any of these artioles were not
available in the counlry, its valuc was to be paid in such com-
modities as might be required by the person appointed to
collect «it, All these arlicles were to be delivored on the sea
coasl by the King at his cost between® October and November
of each year so that they myght be embatked and collected in
the ships thal might be necessary [or cusrying such articles.
The cost of transporting them from the sea beach to the
shipyard was to be borne by the Portuguese government,
The eighth and last arlicle leaves the Portuguese [reo to con-
clude similar treaties with olher Rajas ol the Bakla-Paigio
coast. 1t runs as [follows—I[ some kings or chieftaing of the
said coast belween Paiglio and Bacala wan( to conclude peaee
and friendship wilh His Flighness (the Viceroy) and pay other
tribules Lo the King our master to induce (mu'f*) ships to vigil

b Pho snmo ne Mmathi hondi o nlznmuu,nquivulﬂnb to 20 maunds,

1 A paok, n bale o1 buidon,

* A kind of cloth manefagtnréd in Malabory, goo Dalgado, GHoessarlo Buse Astasioo
Vol 11, pv 386,

* 4 kind ol oloth menufnoied ab Masagae in Howmbny, seo Dulgado, Glossario, Volp T
p. 46,
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their ports, the viceroy shall be able to make such contracts
without breaking the present treaty and shall be able to divide
the ships available for the voyage in two or three (squadrons)
limiting at once the number that was to go to the port ol Bakla
by others that were to go to other ports. The Captain-mor
however should go to the said port of Bakla in the same way
as he used to go Lo the great port (Chittagong)., So long as no
contract is made with the abovementioned kings and lords,
the said ships and the Portuguese shall all be obliged to go to
(Raja Paramananda’s) port of Bakla or where the said king
may ordain and the Raja shall be ever bound to pay the said
tributes even if His Highness the Viceroy makes contracts with
other kings, If however he pays what these others were o
oive then all will be reserved for his port and no (contract) shall
be made with others.
The importance of this treaty cannot be overcstimated.

It shows that the people of Bakargunge on that distant d&Te
carried on a maritime trade under the protection and patronage
of their king. The king himsell was eager to secure @ mono-
poly of trade with the” Porluguese and thus enhance his
financial resources ahd was prepared to make many imporiant
concessions for thas *purpose. The Raja of Chandradwip did
not probably at that date acknowledge Muhammadan supremacy
or he would not. be in a position to conclude a defensive treaty
with a foreign power. What drove him to suych a step we do
not precisely know. The ambition and the war-like activities
of Soliman Shah Kerany does not explain it, for he was not on
the throne of Bengal when this treaty was concluded, But the
rise of Sher Shah and the fall of Mahmood Shah were events
that must have ‘made profound impression on the petty Hinda
Rajas of Bengal. Akbar conquergd Bengal aboul 16 years
later and Paramananda must have felt justified in taking this
precaution which however ultimately proved futile.

_ The treaty also enables us to identify Bakla with Kachua
with some amount of gertainty. The prosperous city of Bakla
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was visited by the English traveller Ralph Fitch m 1586 or 27
years alter the conclusion of this treaty, Mr. Beveridge writes,
“This Bacola has entirely disappeared, and it 1s only a
conjecture that identifies it with IKachua, the ancient seat of
the Chandrawip Rajas. Fitch does not mention how he came
to it from Chatigam—iz.e., Chittagong—nor 1s there any local
tradition of there ever having been a town called Bacola or
Bakla,” But this treaty conclusively proves that there was a
port known to the [oreigners if not to the natives of the
District, as Bacala or Bakla, The king also took his title
from the place. When the treaty was concluded the seat
of the Chandradwip Rajas was at Kachua. According to the
Ain-1-Akbari ' Sarkéir Bakla is upon the banks of the sea; the
fort is situated among trees’”” Kachua, now avillage of no
importance, is on the banks of a fanrly large river and very
near the sea, So we shall not be far from the truth if we
identify the lost city or part of Bakla with Iachua. The “very
fair and high-builded houses ” noticed by Ralph Fitch were
probably all destroyed by the terrible deluge mentioned by
Abul Ifazl and the absence of ancsent ruins in the present
sitc need not puzzle us too mugh. .

[I. SoN or THE KING OF BUSNA.

Another important piece of information is supplied by
Cunha Rivara m his Catalogo Dos Manscripios Da Bibliotheca
publica Eborense (p. 345) published in 1888, The author of
a2 Bengali dialogue is there desoribed as **that great Christian
Cathechist who converted so many Hindus, called D. Antonio,
son of the king of Busna.” Therc was one king of Bhusni whose
name 1s still cherished with reverence and pride throughout
Bengal, Isit possible that a son of the great Sitaram was
converted to Christiamity by the Portuguese Missionaries ? The
question certainly deserves a careful enquiry, “

Enough has been said 4o convince any serious student of
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the History of Bengal that the Porluguese sources may prove
invaluable to him, But it was not my main object Lo examine
the Porluguese records from that point of view. The lime at
my disposal wasg very limited, 1 had to finish my work in five
weeks dand consequeitly T had to confine myself to my own
subject, vz, Maratha History alonie. As time did nol permit
rhe to examiinie more than one section of the Goa archives, I
confined myself, though reluctanily, lo the diplomatic corres-
pondence contaied in the Livros dos Reis Visinlios and the
following lines, I hope, will show that the work ought ts be
pursued furthér. From the time of Shivaji the Portuguese
came into inlimale contact with the Marathas both as friefid
and foe and thelr records show how much we have yetl to
Jearn about the eventful ¢areer of the greal Maratha leader.

[LI, SHIvAITS TREATIES WITII TIIE PORTUGURESE,

“ On the 3oth Seplember 1664 Mirza Raja Jai Singh was
appointed to put down Shivaji.” He believed in prdinpiness.
On the roth February, 1665, he reached Aurangabad and on the
13th of the same month he arriYed at Poona (Sarkar, Shivaj
ist ed., pp. 120-187). Raja Jai Sing wanted to accomplish his
object in a single decisive campaign and the political isolation of
Shivaji was a necessary preliminary of his success. IHe sent
envoys and emissaries to all the petfy ohiefs in the neighbour-
hood. Bijapur was both ¢ajoled #nd threatened and even the
European merchant powers wers not left alone. Negotiation -
was carried o with the Portuguese through Francisco de Mello
atid Diego de Mello, wrongly called Prancis and Dick Mile by
Prof. Jadunath Satkar (seée Biker, Tomo 1V, . r26), In these
neégetiations dlso the great Rajpul statesman was unwilling to
waste much tinie, for we find the Porfuguese Viceroy Anotlonio
de Mello ¢ Castro writifig an apologetie IBtier to the Mirza Raja
as early as the 3ist March or within four weeks of his taking
over éharge from Maharvaja Jaswar Simgh,
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Shivaji had in his army a number of Portuguese oflicers
and it was evidently construed as an overl act on the part of
the Portuguese Government. But Shivajt was by no means
the only I[ndian prince lo cmploy Portuguese and Goanecse
Christian officers; the Emperor of Delhi had welcomed Lhese
foreigners as artillery experls  As  usual Shivaji had not
stopped here, he worked with an open mind and whenever
he found a uselul institution whether civil or military under
the neighbouring Gwmuments he did not hesitate Lo ntroduce
in his jnfant kingdom something analogous, Among his cighteen
karkhanas or stale cstablishments  Sabhasad  menljons
Darukhana or magazine. Prof, Sarkar has soughtl in vain for
its prototype among the karkhanas of the Muhammadan kings
of Delh.  Darukhana is an exact synonym of the Portuguese
Casa de Polbora. The Porlugucse were speeially noted for
theiv efficiency in artillery and it was natural that Shivaji should
organise his artillery establishments on their model.

The Viceroy had however no diflicully in explaining away
the seeming delinquency. Ie had no control over the Portu.
guese in native scrvice and he wrote sto the Rajpul general
emphatically denying any complignce on hise part and disown.
ing all responsibility in the matter, * These, territories,” tho
letter ran, ‘“never gave any help or showed any favour to
Shivaji. That Shivaji has some Portuguese | In his service is not
enough to presume my approval of i, [ or Lherc arc many
Portuguese without my permission in the country of the Moghul
king., Some (migrated) for crimes committed, others (went
away) oblivious of their duty and it-is nol within wy power to
punish them. As Your Excellency knows many Portuguese will,
n the same way, be found in Golconda, Canarh and with
[dalsha.”  Bul the Portuguesg were no longer m a position (o
rive olfence to the mighty Moghul and the Viceroy addressad
wnother letter on the sage date Lo the Portuguese and Christian
fficers in-the Moghul army m which an identical protest was
nade almost word for word,
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Jai Singh compelled Shiv;ji to sue [or peace and ultimately
nduced him to undertake that perilous journey fo Agra., On
Shwap s return to the Daccan, the Portuguese Government were
probably again approached by the Moghul diplomats and the
Viceroy (Jofio Nunes da Cunha) offered naval co-operation
against the Marathas, provided the Moghul would bear the
expenses, in a letter, dated 29th April, 1667 to Mirza Raja Jai-
Singh.  (Biker, Tomo IV, pp, 131-132.) We do not know
whether this letter reached him at all, for in May of the same
year he was replaced by Prince Muazzam and the Moghul
prestige in the Deccan at once sank low. Moreover the Portu-
quese subjects were suffering from Maratha depredations and
on the 5th December, 1667 a treaty of peace and amity was
concluded between Shivaji and the Portuguese Viceroy. Shivaji
denied all knowledge of and responsibility for the inroads made
by his people and promised to release without any ransom all
men, women and children carried away by his people on the gth
November, 1667 and restore all cattle and transporl bullocks
(boiadas) belonging to the subjects of the King ol« Portugal.
The Portuguese Goverrment on their part undertook to prevent
Lakhnm Savant and his parmsans from giving bhwajl any
trouble from their, safe shelter, in the Portuguese territories and
to compel them to live n the Is,lana of Goa for effectively check-
ing thewr mischiefs, Article 3 provides for frecdom of
commerce and articles 4 and g provide for amicable settlement
of all differences that might arise between Shivaji and the
Portuguese.

It 18 doubtful whether this treaty was faithfully observed by
the two signatory powers, {or on the 18th May, 1668 or within
six months of the conclusion of the treaty, the Viceroy ina
grandiloquent letter addressed to Aurangzib himsell (Biker,
Tomo [V, p. 134), once more offered him naval co-operation
against Shivajl and we read in the, preamble of the next
treaty coneluded on the roth February, 1670, that Shivaji's

~ Captains continued to be a source of trouble to Lheir Portuguese
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neighbours. Shivaji h:-:ldiplunclerecl Portuguese subjecls and
captured and detained in his ports many Porluguesc vessels.
The Portuguese had on their part also captured and detained
ships belonging to Shivaji and his subjecls. Ifrom the scanty
materials at our disposal it is impossible to say who offered the
first provocation and who retaliated. But probably Portuguese
objection to free navigation was the real cause of this breach
of peace. They insisted on thefy right of search and compelied
every ship navigating the Arabian Sea to seck and carry their
cartad,  As may be easily imagined this could not be tolerated
by any self-respecting power and led to frequent friction.
Shivaji tried to secure Porluguese alliance against his Muham.
madan enemies of Delht and Janjira. A born diplomat and
judge of human character he knew that his object could hest
be achieved by playing upon the fears and anxielics of the
Portuguese. QOne of the most inveterate encmies (hat the
Portuguese then had was the Imam of Muscat, Shivaji wrote to
the Viceroy that the Imam had proposed a defensive and offen-
sive alliance with him against the Portuguese. Whether the
praposal was really made or whether it was p clever hint that
Shivaji could make himself doubly dangerous by co-operating
with the Imam at sea we sdo not know. A [resh treaty was
concluded, But the Portuguese were no longer in a position to
. defy the Emperor of Delhi or the Admiral of his flect, nor were
they inclined to concede to Shivaji the much coveted right of
free navigation. Only small boats carrying food-grains, salt
and other drugs of different kinds were permitted to ply from
Caranja to Goa without any carfas but big ships, Galvats, and
other coasting vessels of any considerable dimension were
denjed that privilege. Shivaji's subjects, however, could obtain
under the new treaty cariag {8 any port, other than those of
the enemies of the Portuguese, on payment of the customary
fee and in this respect they were to bhe treated in the same
manner as the subjects of the Moghul Iimperor, Shivaji on,
his part was to provide shelte? and provision in his ports to
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Portuguese ships in distress. He also undertook nol to con-
struct any forl or stone building on the Portuguesc frontier
unless the site was separated from the boundary line by a river.
As the Portuguese were unable or unwilling to break their existing
treaty and friendly relations with the Moghuls, they offered to

¥

mediate between Shivaji and his enemy the Siddi of Janjira,

IV, Tiig ORIGIN or CHAUTII,

This practically exhausts the published Portuguese sources.
Of the unpublished Portuguese records in the Goa archives
[ am now in a position to deal with those embodied in the Ziwros
dos Rets Visinhos alone. The first volume of the Reis Visinhos
opens with a letter to Sambhaji, dated the 1st December, 1667.
[t is a formal letter dictated probably by the courlesy that the
Maratha Prince could expect.from his Porluguese neighbours.
The new Viceroy informed Sambhaji ol his sale arrival at Goa.
[t is probable that Sambhaji as heir-apparent then enjoyed
some influence and power in his father’s Governmeni or the
Viceroy could not go out of his way to address this short but
formal letter to him. On the same «ate Girmaji Pandit Subedar
of Bicholy was informed that Shivaji's envoy Pitambar Sinay
(Shenvi) could visit Goa as often as he liked. Who was this
Pitambar ? It is not unlikely that we mect here for the second
time the selfsame diplomat who came to Shivaji’s Court as an
envoy from Kudal, the same, Pitambar Shenvi who was con-
temptuously called a fish-eating Brahman by the punctilious
Krishnaji Anant Sabhasad. Shivaji knew how {o recognise
and employ merit even when discovered in an enemy employee.
A notable instapce of this is Turnished by the case of Baji
Prabhu Deshpande who was originally in the employment of
the Deshmukh of Hirdas, He had not only been appointed to
A high command in Shivaji's army but it is now well known how
Baji Prabhu had sacrificed his®own life to secure the safe
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retreat of Shivaji. It was on a delicate mission (hal Ditambar
Shenvi. was employed by Shivaji. Probably Pitambar had
earned Shivaji’s good opinion by his tacl and ability while
acting on behalf of his former master, the Desai of Kudal
and as Pitambar, an inhabitant of Kudal, was likely to have
an accurate knowledge of Lhe inner politics of his Portuguesc
neighbours, it was but natural that Shivaji should select hith for
his envoy at the Poituguese hdad.quarters, Iike many of his
caste-fellows,*Pitambar probably was a good linguist (this is
however a conjecture) and posscssed some knowledge of the
Portuguese language, a necessary equipment for his new ollice.
Everyone cannot convert enemies into loyal Iriends and herein
lies the greatness of Shivaji. People who once came in contlact
with him were at once carried away by his nresistible personal
charm and magnetism.

The first scrvice rendered by Pitambar was, as these old
records tell us, the restoration of a dancing givl 1o liberly,  She
was probably attached to a lemple, for both Annaji Datto and
Moropant Pingle interested Lhemsclves Jn her cause. But it
was not for this trifling end that Pitambar had been deputed Lo
Goa. His lask was as important as delicale. S‘hlvﬂ]l demanded
Chauth from the Porlugucse on account ol some villages near
Daman over which a local Rﬂ]‘l had once exercised some sort
of overlordship., .

According to Grant Dulf’ Shivaji demanded Chauth from
the Portuguese for the first time in 1674 on account of Bassein,
“It is not known,” he says,”“ by what means they ecvaded the
payment. The Mabratta histories of Shivaji's life do not state
that the Portuguese cver admiited the  Chouth ' but frequent
mention 15 made of their having paid tribule, and prokably
some compromise was madé on Lhis occasion.” I’rol, Sarkar
mentions a Maratha rmd Cagamsl Daman in 1676 but opines
that no permanent gam resulted from this cmnpmgn Whaother
any permanent gmn resulted {rom this expedition it is very difficuls
to say but it is almost clear that Pitambar’s embassy to Gon
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was certainly the direct outcome ol the apparently fruitless
campaign, Chauth had been demanded by Shivaji and raids
had been made to enforce his demand and then probably the
Portuguese offered to discuss the vexed question and amicably
settle it. Prof. Takkhav goes nearer the truth when he says,
“The territory of this prince (the Raja of Ramnagar) comprised
a, few mountain forts, the outlying lerritories on the sea-coasl
farming the district of Damah, being under the Portuguese,
The latter were accustomed to pay an annual tribute to the Raja
to secure thelr ummunity from his meursions. Shivaj having
occupied these mountain forts turned upon tha Porluguese
power at Daman., The Portuguese * * senit an ollicer
to inquire what errand Shivay’s men had come upon. They
made answer, as they had been previously tutored, that they
had come to enforce and confirm the annual tribute to the lord
of Ramnagar. The Portuguese willingly consented............”
Let the old Portuguese records {cll their Swn story now,

On the first of December 1674 the Porluguese Government
sent Pitambar Shenvi a free permil to visit Goa; on the roth of
the next month (January 1648) the Viceroy, Pedro d’Almeida,
Conde de Assumar, addressed the following letter to Shivaji,—
“ Pitambar Shenvl, the envoy of Your IHighness, gave me a
memorial on certain negotiations that * * % % gome letters
delivered to the Viceroy my predecessor to whigh he had given
noreply * * for he was occupied with some business; and
I immediately ordered a diligent search for them in the
Secretariat and [ shall try Lo agscertain the particulars of which
they treated, so that I may confer with Your Highness.
And now the said envoy has delivered to me the much esteemed
letter, of Your Highness, in which Your Highness expresses
safisfaction at my arrival, ififorming me of your good
news and the progress of your arms which delighted me
" much * * % also it deserves Lthe excellent friendship that
Your Highness had with this State and Your Highness may be
cerfain ¥ ¥ ¥ % of the contlhuance of the good relation
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that should exist between us withoul any spcech on mmy part
’ *
¥ * # the Prince my masier rtecommended to me.

Your Highness asks me to write to the Captains ol the
fortresses of Bassein and Daman that they should pay to Your
Highness the Chauth (?) that has always been paid to the
Choutia (?) as Your Highness is now in possession of his
territories, I order the said captains to inform me (Lhat in this)
* ¥ % (9} information that Lill gpow I have regarding this nego-
tiation, having arrived here only a few days ago; and in reply
[ shall,write to Your Highness Lo send a person with aulhorily
to make a settlement with the people I nominate, after examining
the terms of the contract by which the smid Chauth was
settled and with which it 1s conceded, and Your Ilighness
shall be positive that it being clear thal Your Ilighness is
absolute * * * tHere should nol be any doubl that what
we paid to the said Choutia shall be paid Lo Your Iligh-
ness, and as to the rest that Your Ilighness tells me in his
letter, I observe to Your I[lighness that the Portuguese arc
better assfriends than as enemics and as Your Ilighness is
so wise he should consider these thingsewith care that belween
us may be preserved and augmenled our Friendship and*Your
Highness will always find in me a faith{ul [jend. May God
illuminate the person of Youy Highness in Ilis grace. Gon,
toth Januavy, 1678, Dom Pedro de Almeida., (Reis Visinhos,
Vol. I, fol, g), ° )

On the same date two letters were addressed to Annaji
Datto and Moropant Pingle. Annaji is styled as Surnivis
Subedar mor das terras de Concho and Moro ’ant is address-
ed as Pessua e Pradano de Sivagi Raze. The letter written
to Annaji unfortunately could not be deeiphered, but in the
epistie addressed to the Peshwa reference is made to* his
demand for Chauth and Lhe answeris exactly similar to that
n the letter quoted abowe. The Viceroy had arrived in India
only recenlly and he was, as he himsell writes, making enquiries
about the justice of the Maratha claims, In the meantime
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Moro Pandit was requested to send a man with necessary
power to confer with the Portuguese officers. About the same
time (the date is obliterated) a letter was wrillen to Girmaji
Pandit, Subedar of Bicholy, in response to some complaints
made by him about which the Viceroy promised Lo make an
enquiry.

On the 15th of January, 1648, Almeida wrote a second
letter to Shivaji. “I have alrgady written to Your Highness
another letter, in response to {wo of yours, which [ delivered
to Pitambar Sinay, Your "Highness's envoy. And I thought
(it proper) to write this letter to offer my thanks to Your
Highness for the demonstration with which Your Highness
welcomed my arrival which I shall reciprocate with loyal friend.
ship, preserving for ever the (good relation) that Your Highness
has with’this State as Your Highness, will experience throughout
the whole period of my administration as well by the spectal
affection that 1 have for Your Highness, for I had already heard
much of your great qualities while yet in Portugal * * *
as by the great earnestness with which I was charged by the
Prince my master, Anad as regards the business on which the
abovBmentioned “envoy came I shall order to answer
Your Highness «with all possible brevity as Your Highness
(sees) in this letter. The abevementioned envoy will be able
to assure Your Highness of the good will that he finds in me
and the expedition that I have given to the lettgrs T ordered
to be written to Moro Pandito and Anagi Pandito in reply
to those of theirs and to the Captains. of the [ortresses
of the North to inform me with all veracity about the particulars
of which I asked them to make enquiry regarding the Chouth
and their answer | shall send to Your Highness: and in the
said letters I have ordained them.to "have good relations and
amity with the Subedars of Your Highness and not to permit
in our lands the malefactors of the Colkes and Choutia so that
they may not create disturbance or commit robberies in the terri-
tories of Your Highness, [ expect Your Highness will also on
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your part ordain the said Subedars to have the same relations
and good amity with the sztigl Caplains so that there may not
be' between us any occasion [or resentment or grievance,
May God illumine the person of Your [Tighness m Ihs Graces
Goa, 1sth January, 1678, Dom P. de Almeida (Reis Visinhos;
Tomo 1,'Fol. 3). '
The Conde de Assumar, however, did not stay in India long
enough to settle this important question.  Ile arrived at’ Gog
on the 28th October, 16%% but lett for Mozambigue on the 24th
January, 1648 where he died on thg a2and March of the next
year, “During the absence of the Viceroy, the Government of
India was administered by Dom Fr, Antonio Branddo, the Arch-
bishop Primate, and Antonio Pacs de Sande, who had béen
named in the Patent of Succession, together with the Chancellar
Francisco Cabral de Alinada, who was now deceased.”s (Dans
vers, Portuguese in India, Vol, II, p. 366.) The next letter
on this subject was signed by the second ol these coms-
missioners Antonio Pacs de Sande and was addressed (o
Shivaji's envoy Pitambar Shenvi, It is dated 1eth July, 1968
and runs as follows :—We have receivgd the letters that
Pitambar Shenvi wrote o me and lo the Arghbishop DPrimate,
in which. he represented to mu that he came to this city in
connection with the subject of the payment of “Chauth of the
territories of Daman that used to be paid to the king Choutia.
The Viceroy Dom Pedro d'Almeida answertd him that le
would send for mformation (on this subject) [rom the Captain
General of "the North and from that of the fortress of Daman,
and when the said nformation came he would advise Bivaji
Raze to send a person with authority to seltle this busingss
with the said Captains after examining the termis under which
the gaid Chauth was created but the said adviee had not conse
and the decision that was dkpected has been delayed. To
this my answer is that the cause of this delay arose from the
embarcation of the said Vicemy {or Mozambique and on that
account. the said Captains. neglected to send the.information ,

3 |
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he asked of them. It was nol therefore possible to inform
you that this state is not tributary to any neighbouring king.
As however I desire to preserve peace and amity with Sivaji
I do not take any notice and pretend to be ignorant of the
information that the said Caplains gave me. Ifrom that informa-
tion it is clear that the said Chauth had its origin in the
covenant that the villagers (Vazadores das Aldeas) of the
district of Daman made of their own iniliative with the King
Choutia, without informing theé past Viceroys and Governors to
avoid the loss and robbery that his subjects used to commit in
those villages. From thal covenant a contract has been solem-
nised with various conditions that were to operate between them,
and I have no doubt that in conformity with them the said
Chauth will be paid to Sivaji Raze as it was paid to the King
Choutiag as I am told in his letters that it is in the possession
of his kingdom. To settle this business Pitambar Shenvi may
advise Sivaji Raze to send on his behalf a person with proper
authority for [ write here upon this subject, after consulting the
Captain of the fortress of Daman and examining the terms under
which the inhabitants of the sajd villages subjected them Lo the
payment of the sajd Chauth. The consideration of this affair is
entrusted to the judges deputed for it, so that after the said
villagers are heard and the common law and known custom
relating to the Chauth are considered the final decision of this
business may be@ made .with justice. Shivaji Raze may be
informed of this that [ on my part do not lack the desire of
seeing his claim decided so that our friendship may go on
increasing. (Goa 12th July, 1698, Antonio Paes de Sande (Reis
Visinhos, Tomo 1, fol. 12.)

In the meantime the Portuguese were still enforcing their
naval supremacy upon all*vessels belonging to other nations but
they were inclined to be lenient fo Shivaji's subjects, In a letter
dated 12th March, 1648, Tanaji Ram, Havaldar of Vingurla, is
informed, in reply to his letter for the restoration of a Manchua,

~captured and detained by the Portuguese, that the vessel was

¢
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captured as it did not carry a carfas but m view of Lthe friend.-
ship and amity that existed between the Portuguesc state and
Shivaji Raze the vesscl was ordered to be restored.  Tanajl
Ram was further informed thal henceforth Shivajl’s subjects
will have nothing but friendly treatmennt from the Portugucse
while in their territories.  (Reis Visinhos, Tomo I, fol. 4). On
the 2ard May, 1678, Pilambar Shenvt was informed m reply Lo
a similar application for the restoration of a Parangue that he
ought o know that no vessel could navigate the Indian Ocean
withoul a cartas from the Potuguese. (R, V., Tomo I, [ol, g).
The relations between the two powers were ceitainly being
strained. Pitambar Shenvi was dead and 1L appears that no
new envoy or plenipotentiary had been appointed in his
place while Shivaji’s people were being harassed by’ robbers
and marauders from Portugucse tertitorics and Lheir palience
was sorely tried by interlerence of the Dortuguese (leet
in the sea. Antonio Paes de Sande conlended that he and his
colleagues were doing their best to preserve the good relalions
hitherto prevailing between the two® stales, but Shivaji's
Subedars thwarted their pacific attempts *The letter Sande
wrote to Shivaji in this connection is certainly interesting, It
runs as follows :—Received Your Highness's letter and rejoiced
to find it accompanied by the excellent ngws of Your High.
ness's health and every time I shall gel them the greater will
be my satisfaction. In the same letter Your Iighness ac.
quaints me with the desire that the good relation and friendship
that now subsist between the vassals of Your Highness and
those of His Majesty the Prince my master may continue,
| am not less anxious that this {riendship should be preserved
and should for ever increase 35 [ have demonstiraled on zll
occasions afforded by the Captains of Your Highness. Your
Highness has written ame (hal some malefactors [rom our
jurisdiction go over to that of Your Highness Lo commit
robbery and other misdeedsy, My diligence to prevent this
mnjury and the orders | have passed on the subject are well

*
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known to the Subedar of Bichely, and it cannot be * * % *
that T have sanctioned it and permitied so bad a thing that is
‘of no use but a disturbance to the State, [t is a fact that at
times the negligence of the Caplains 1s the (real) cause of such
cxcesses, For times 1 have often adwvised them {o get some
of these malefactors arrested so that they might be tortured (o
ronfess (and betray) thelr companions Lo be punished in an

¢xemplary manner or to inform immediately and send a
messenger to the Captain nearcsl our lerritories so thal he
may go in pursull of the band of persons [rom these terrilories
in order that they might be identificd, ete.””  This letler need not
bhe quoted 1n full.

‘- Antonip Paes de Sande goes on to point out thal no
minister had been appointed in the place of Pitamba Shenvi
who died and il stood in the way of promptl transmission of
letters, Shivaji was requested to remove this difficulty by
gppointing a new minister, Sande concludes this letter by
explaining how difficult it was to stop all migration or immigra-
tion from and to his jurisdiction,

The next letler that Antonio Paes de Sande wrote Lo Shivaji
dealt with the ,capture of some¢ Maratha vesscls by the
Portuguese Ar madd (datetl .19th November, 1678), Reis
Visinhos, Tomo 1, fol. 18). These vessels according to the
Portuguese version were trading with cities of Canara then af
war wilh the Portuguese. Shivaji had evidently complained Lo
the Goa authorities against the unfriendly conduot of their
naval officers but Paes informed the Maratha King that he had
heen-misinformed by his Captains and Subedars who were not
wgll disposed {owards the Portuguese and who were not at all
inelined to continue the peace and friendly relation then aubsisting
belween the two states, DBilterness of {coling continued to
increase and the Portuguese suspected,~ as the next . letler of
Sande shows, Shivaji's ministers of" secretly helping  their
‘enemies in various ways (Leltep dated 11th January, 1789;
Rf&iﬂ Visinhos, Toma 1, fol. ﬂ4.) The ]ﬂ‘%f latter of this SO1IBR
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addressed (o Shivajl tells us that the Maratha naval oflicers
had in the meantime retaliated what they rightly or wrongly
reparded as a hostile action by capturing i thelr turn some
Portuguese ships. This letler, written on the 20th ol Mareh,
1679, also refers to Shivaji's demand of Chauth [rom some
villages under the jurisdiction of Daman and I shall quote here
only the relevant portion, ' Recetved the letter of Your High-
ness, delivered by Ganu Chaty (Ganesh Sheth?), on the subject
of sepding Your Ilighness the Chauth that some villages under
the jurisdiction of Daman used to pay tothe King Choutia as
Your Highness is now i posscssion of those tleritories,
Pitambar Shenvi, the envoy ol Your llighness, discussed this
subject in this ecity with the Viceroy Pedro d’Almeida and
after his departure and after 1 had succceded him in this
Government, | solicited Your Ilighness as a [riend to settle
(this ‘question) and to send lo that end, a person on your
behalf with all nccessary power lo Lreat of the form and
conditions of payment. For this contribution was paid by
some villages of the said Daman unde? certain conditions to be
observed by the two parties, in, which this 3itate did not other-
wise participate excepl giving them thals permission,  All
these have been shown insthe letter [ wrole to the said
envoy to be presented Lo Your IMHighness. | now remit to
Your Highness a copy of that letter so that it may
be seen that [ have not m any way failed m the obser.
vance and preservation of pcace and amity and in offering
good will to Your Highness.

Things having pursued this course, Your Highness and
his ministers failed on their parl (in this respect) by capturing
againsl public faith, while ingpeace and amity, the vessels and
goods of merchants of this city who went under our banner of
the Armada of the North and were assembled in the river
Zamgquizara (Shzufklws'hrar) in a port of afriendly Prince, I wrote
to Your Highness on this subject and Your Highness gave’a
teply my lstter being wrongly informed It was a falsehood to
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assert that the vesscls entered your'port, for the truth was that
the Aiabs were cruising (?) in the sea where Your Highness had
no jwisdiction, neither has Your Highness any jurisdiction over
the Portuguese or the Arabs ” (Reis Visinhos, Vol. I,+ol. 29).

In the next letter of the series, dated 8th May, 1680
addressed to Rayagi Pandito, Subedair mor de Sambagy Raze
we read of Shivaji's death, Thg Portuguese had been prepar-
ing for a war with him, What the immediatle provocation was
these letters do not reveal, but it is sufliciently clear that, both
the parties had enough grievance against each other. When
the news of Shivaji’s death reached the Portuguese Government
they at once suspended their hostile preparations and hastened
to offer Sambhaji therr condolence and assure him of their
friendship. (Reis Visinhos, Vol. I, fol. 42).

These few letters show us only one side of the shield, Neither
the original Marathi letters of Shivaji nor their Portuguese
translation are now at Goa, A large number of records
were sent from Goa to Lisbon many yeais ago and for all we
know, these valuable d¢cuments may still be lying unheeded in
some dark corners”of the Regord rooms of Lisbon or Evora.
But one-sided as+hese letters necessanly are, the Information
yielded by them does not lack in either 1mpmtancc or Interest.
They certainly throw a sidelight on the origin of the Chauth
hitherto regarded as an invention of that resourceful founder of
the Maratha Empire. But it appears from the letters quoted
above that the Chauth existed long before Shivaji rose to power.

According to Prof. Takkhav the Raja of Ramnagar used

+to receive an annual tribute from the Portuguese of Daman.
Shivaji claimed this tribute after his reduction of the territories
of the Koli Raja. In the Poitugugse letters this Raja is styled
as Rei Choutia because the tribute he 1ecerved was Chauth
or Chouto as the Portuguese called it. The Ra]a Choutia may
therefore be reasonably identified with the Koli Raja of Ram-

niigar, There are many letteis jn the first volume of Livros
dos Reis Visinhos addressed to Bl Rei Choutia, but time did nat
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permit me to go through them, Since I left Goa, these letters
have been carefully studied by Prof. P, Pissurlencar and he
informs me that the Raja Choutia was no other than the Raja
of Ramnagar, The next question to be settled is when did
those ' villages under the jurisdiction of Daman " agree lo pay
the contribution called “Chouto” to the Raja of Ramnagar, |
have no doubt that the exact dale can be ascerlained by an
enquiry in the Archives of Daman, but that the arrangement
was made long before Shivaji's birth is evident Danvers
tells us that “In 1615 a ticaly of peace was concluded by
Gonzalo Pinto da Fonseca at Daman, between the Porluguese
and King Choutia, with whom there had been some differences
on account of the latter having laid claim Lo certain lands which
were also held to belong to Pottuguese territory.”  {(Porluguese
in India, Vol. II, pp 179-178.) The arrangement which earned
the Raja of Ramnagar his title of Choulia must have been
concluded earlier.

Let us now see when Shivaji first began to claim Chayth
from his neighbours. Both Grant Dull and Ranade agree
that Chauth was for the first time claimed by Shivaji in the year
1665 when the treaty of Pdrandar was concluded, It is
however noteworthy that Sardeshmukhi had been claimed
fifleen years earlier in 165o0. “'This claim was repealed in 1654
for,the second time, but on neither of tllese occasions any
mention of the Chauth was made, I have said eclsewhere
(Administrative System of the Marathas) that Shivaji's claim
to Sardeshmukhi was based on a legal fiction, but he compelled
his neighbours to pay Chauth as a price of security from plunder
and for an identical reason the Portuguese subjects of Daman
also had agreed to pay Chauth to the Raja of Ramnagar, In
the year 1664 Shivaji had passed through the territories of the
Koli Rajas of Jawhar and Ramnagar on his way to Sural and
probably on this oechsion he had learnt of the Koli practice of
levying Chauth from their Portuguese neighbours, In 1672 the
Koli country was conquered and Chauth was demanded not
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only from the Portuguese but also from the peuple of Surat,
In the first letter of Dom Perdo d’Almeida we find a corrobora.
tion of Giant Dull's stalement thal Choullr was demanded on
account of Bassein as well. This claim was probably dropped
later as no mention of it is made in the letters of Antonio
Paes de Sande to Pitambar Shenvi and Shivaji where the
justice of Shivajl’s claims agamst Daman is admitted. Shivaj
did not invent the Chauth, he found the practice of levying
Chauth alieady in existence and he quickly realised that the
practice could be easily extended to other hostile territorits to
his greatl financial benefit,

The Poiluguese did not address either Shivaji or Sambhaj;
as Chhatrapatt They were invariably styled in the Portuguese
letters as Shivaji Raze and Sambhaji Raze although Shahu and
even the powerless polentales of the ISolhapur hranchat a
subsequent period were addressed in the Portuguese letlers as
Katrapaty. Annaji Datlo and Moro Pant also, it should be
noted, are styled as ‘Surnivis’ and ‘Pessua’ respectively, for
their new designations 0[ Sachiv and Mukhya Pradban had
evidently not yet gqmed any popularity among stiangers.
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V. How THE MARATHA TINVOY wWAS RECEIVED.

Pitambar Shenvi and after him Ganu Chaly or Ganesh
Sheth went to Goa as Shivaji's envoy. We also read of lisaj
Gambhir Rao, envoy of Sambhaji Raze. ITow were these Cnvoys
recetved by the Portuguese Governor-General and his sub.
ordinates, what [ormalilies were observed, how many salules, il
any, were fired on the occasion of their visit, we do not know.
Biker has published an extract [rom an interesting document
under dhe heading “Tratamento que se¢ dd ao Enviado do
Sevagl "' Butl as the date of this paper is 1708, the honours
and formalities mentioned therein were doublless meant for the
envoy of Shivaji the Mad, the grandson of Shivaji the Greal and
son of Rajaram and Tarabai. The extract 1uns as [ollows -

“On his arrival at Bicholim or Sanquelim, or Ponda or
al any other place, the envoy informs the Viceroy how he is
lodged there, by letters and epistles that he brings in his
charge soliciting an audience. On getting this information the
envoy 1s provided with houses wilth six chairs, one [oolsiool
one side board and a skiff, he is advised a8 to the day he should
come, assigning the place where he should come, and on
the day fixed, a Manchua of the state or of the treasury,
equipped with awnings of scarlel eloth and curtains of silk i senl
to bring him, The Captain of the Manchua, and an Adjutant
go in it and lead the envoy between them (o the landing
place, whence word is seni Lo the Viceroy or Governor, and
some men of high rank and noble birth who atlend the house
and some Ministers attending the Viceroy come (o recejve
him at the stairs. The envoy enters, bows thrice and delivers
to the Viceroy the leiter and presents he brings, which the
Viceroy receives on [oot below the canopy and al once hands
them Lo the Secrctary of State, who is on his right,  Alier
dismissal the envoy qomes Lo lodge in the houses appoinied

b Bikor, Yol V, pp, 12 18,
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for him accompanied by two mounted Adjutants, and the
Factor of His Majesty sends him some refreshment of {ruils
to the value of sixty Xeralins, I'rom therc he solicils audience
which is given without further formalities and he is always
received on fool, On the day of his departure, when the envoy
comes to the presence of the Viceroy, the Seoretary delivers
to the Viceroy the reply and the present and he gives them
with his own hands (o the envoy who receives them with salutes
and some courteous words. I[ he wants to go by sea the
envoy is given a ship, and iwo Adjutants or one accompany
him according to the wish of the Viceioy; and the same is done
if he goes by land to the frontier of our territories, Only after
the wars, the Conde de Alvor! received the envoy of the said
Shivaji with the title of ambassador with the same treatment
as is accorded to the ambassador of the KKing of Canara,

VI. NAVAL ACTIVITIES UNDER SAMBHAJIL.

Conde de Alvor had lo fight desperaiely against Sambhaji
for the defence of Goa, The war, however, was of his own
seeking. The Viceroy had imprudently identified himself wilh
the Mughal cau8e and Sambhaij.could not afford to see Goa
converted into a Mughal naval Base. In science, of coursge, the
Marathas were no match lor thewr western enemies, bul Sambhaji
was a betler stralegist than the Count of Alvar, He led his
army with so much resolution that many towns in Portuguesc
India were captured and the safety of the metropolis was seriously
threatened, It was saved only by the sudden arrival of the
Mughal reinforcement, called to the scene in the nick of time,
as the fervent Christians of those days believed, by the
celebrated Saint Francis Xavierpto whose care the despairing

' Faanoisoo do Tavora, Conde de Alyor, was Vium.uymuﬁrl’o,ubuguuﬂu Indip Crom 1081 to

1686, Tho war mentioned i the ono Sambhaji wagod ngoinst hiw. Thoe word Shivail
trerefore stands hore for Maiathn kings in goneral,
]



ITISTORICAT RECORDS AT GOA 27

Viceroy had confided the defence.  The details of (his war are
so well known thal 1 need not deal with them here, most of (he
records bearing upon the subject have been published by the
celebrated Luso-Indian scholar, the late Sr. J. A, Ismaecl
Gracias, I proposc here to confine mysell o the letters em.
baodied in the second volume of Livros dos Rers Visinhos.

On the 28th of July, 1682, a letter was addressed to
Sambhaji (R. V. Tomo. I, «lol 16) offering congratulations
on the birth ol a son. As Shahu was born in Deeember, 1680,
or ahout (wenly months ecarlicr, he could not be the prince
whose birth offered the Portuguese a suitable opportunity for
making f{riendly overtures, for in this letter the Portuguese had
expressed their desire for friendship and peace. Their
merchantmen were being harassed by the Maratha navy, as we
read in a previous letler addressed to f Hssagi Gambir Rao,’
envoy of Sambhaji, that some Galvats belonging Lo Portugucese
subjects had been captured by Sambhaji's  Subedivs  and
Havaldars (fol. 14). The Porlugucse were quite willing Lo
make some concessions Lo Sambhaji Lo pwichase his friendship.
From the time of Shivaji Lo the diys of the Peshwas the
Marathas had often to purchas¢ powder afd balls from their
Portuguese neighbours and Sambhaji needed a large quantity
of ammunition {or his war against the Mughals. He had
entrusied this business Lo lisaji Gambhir Rao and the
Porluguese, as another letter addressed to Sambhaji on the
28th July 1682 shows, werc quite willing to give him every
facility for purchase and transporl of war malerials he needed.
The Jetter rung as follows :

Alter the envoy Bsaji Gambbir Rao had delivered to me
Your Highness' letter of weleome, he gave me another letter,
in which Your Highness informed me that Your Iighness had
ordered two farms under the jurisdiction of Bicholy and
Curalle to manufacturas powder and purchase artillery, sulphur
salipetre and other Lhmga ordercd to be manufactured in the
ports of Canara and Malabar, requesting me lo direcl the
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Captains of the Armada of this State not Lo obslruct those ships
(carrying the munitions) and to let them and also the provision
that Your Highness' subjects may take from Canara for the
porls of Vingurla and Banda pass {icely, As [ desire to mainiain
(riendship with Your Ilighness, I have given to your Highness'
envoy the necessary order Lo that effect, in conformity with
Your Highness’ request. I do not, however, experience similar
treatment [rom Your Highness’, Subedars and Minisiers, who
cause much harm to the subjects of this State, by capluring
their ships in the Northern parts while on their way from one
part of this Stale Lo another with cargo. The ships as [ have
signified to Your Highness’ envoy......and should order the said
ships to be restored, direcling your Subedars and Ministers not
to commit similar outrage and violence and Lo behave only in
such a way as (conliibute Lo the) preservation of amity...for it
can be but il preserved, as I (have ?) just shown Your High-
ness in all brevity, by trealment of other sort as these hostililics
May God illumine Your Highness' soul | (fol, 16),

On the same date a third letter was addressed to
Sambhaji (fol. 1) in which the Portuguese Government com-
plained that a merchantman with cargo bound for the port of
Cambay was cagtured by four or five ships, of the Maratha
fleet near Chaul and the caplured vessel with all its cargo was
taken to the port of ‘Canssou,’ on the plea thal the ship
belonged to the metchants of Cambay, though in fact it was Lhe
properly of one Rachandrassa Bagagi, Captain of the Gujraty
merchants of Goa and a vassal of the Porluguese State, The
Portuguese authorities pointed outl that the ship-and ils cargo
should be restored to its rightful owner in conformity with the
friendship that then prevailed between the two States,

But this was by no means the last letter that the Por lugm.se
authorities sent to Sambhaji on the 28th July, 1682, The
Viceroy Francisco de Tavora had (o pul his signature to yel
another epistle addressed to the Maratha® fiince, This leticr
shows that Sambhaji had formed an alliance with the Arabs,
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who at that time contended [or the sovereignty of the  [ndian
Ocean. FHe had made some commereial concessions i their
favour and, as was alleged by the Portuguese, he shared with
them some ol their spoils taken from Portuguese subjects and
this naturally called forth a protest from the Vieeroy. Bul
let the letter relate the obnoxious incidents,  The Viceroy wrote :

“1 have answered lwo letters of Your Ilighness that |
eceived sometimes ago and [ am now replying one thal was
delivered Lo me a few days ago by the envoy, Esajt Gaunbhir
Rao, ip which Your Highness gives me satisfaction on,... I com.
plained Lo the envoy of the friendship your Ilighness had (evineed)
for the Arabs, the encmies of this Stale, by inviting them (ol
your service and offering them factories in your tenitories and
also by keeping the diamonds taken from the merchants of this
city ; and yet Your llighness tells me that the informalion I got
about. the Arabs was not correct and (hey had only gone to
your porls Lo scll horses, Lhough the information Ihad, convineed
me lo the contlrary......”

The letter could not be {ully deciphered, but the Portu-
guese Viceroy makes here a reforence sto the good relations
thal existed in the past between the DPortuguese State and
Sambhaji’s father, Shivaji, Ilc requests thg, Maratha prinee
lo restore the diamonds to the wmerchants, their legilimale
owners, and urges him Lo instruct his Subedais and Ministers
not to offer any more vexation and create {resh cause of discord.
A letter to the same effeet was written to Nilcantn Moresoar
(Nilkantha Moreshwar), ‘General e Seeretario de Sambagy Raze '
(fol. 26).

These letters and expostulations were not altogether fruitless,
for we find in a letter, dated 16th November, 1682 (Reis
Visinhos, Tomo I, fol 20), a relerence to a letler of lisaji
Gambhir Rao, Sambhaji's envoy.  The Maratha envoy informed
the Portuguese thal “Ris master had been informed of the bag
proceedings of Subcdar Givagi Naique and had dismissed him,
In his place the old Subedar Moro Dadagi was appoinied.
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But the Portuguese had nol relicd on mere epistolary
expostulations. They had relaliated by capluring and detain-
ing Maratha ships, We read in a letter addressed to Gano-
Ram, Subedar de Curalle, dated 14th April, 1683 (RReis Vioishos,
Tomo 1I, fol. 33) that the Manchuas captured on their way from
ports of Canara would nol be returned 1o Vingurla until
ships belonging to Portuguese subjects were restored and
their losses were fully compepsated  DBut retaliatory measures
had not the desired eflect, as we rcad in a letter (dated 16th
May, 1683) to IKsaji Gambhir Rao, that the ships and
cargo had not yet been restored. A similar letler was addressed
to Ramchandra Pant onthe 17th of February, 1683, prior Lo the
angry answer given lo the Subedar of Kudal, in which it was
specifically stated that inspite of the friendly professions made
by Sambhaji Raze, the Manchuas and Galvats captured in the
North, had not been rcturned, and no compensation had been
paid Lo Lhe villages under the Portuguese jurisdiction plundered
by the Marathas.

These few letters are enough to show that busy as Sam-
bhaji was on the land, his naval officers were not altogether idle,
and the period bettween Shivaji’s death and the rise of Kanhoji
Angira was not alogether a blank i the Naval History of the
Marathas, On the high seas the Maratha flect still held their
own as in the days of the great Shivaji and the Porluguese
maritime power had very little or no tervor {or the brave Maratha
sailors. To a modern reader thewr capture and detention of
inoffensive merchantmen may appear as a high-handed act
of piracy. In fact the Maratha Admirals have ofien been called
nirates by European writers of all nationalities, but as we shall
see later on, they had learnt this practice from a Kuropean
nation and they rightly or wrongly thought that any ship of
any nationality, other than their own, formed their law{ul prize
unless she carried a Maratha passport. ,
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VII. RAJARAM.

The first few years of Rajaram were fraught with cilliculties.
For eight out of a veign of eleven years he was besieged by
his Mughal encmies in the fort of Jinjt in the Madras Presi
dency. His country had been wholly overrun by the Mughal
cavalry and most of his hill forts had been captured and
garrisoned by the Mughals. But harassed as the Marathas
were in their own land thenr army and navy did nol cease Lo be
a source of annoyance Lo the Portuguese. Irancisco de
Tavora, Conde de Alvor, had left India in 1681 and for the nexl
seven years therc was no Viceroy, the Porluguese listate in
India was wuled by Governors and Commissioners.  The next
Viceroy, Dom PPedro Antonio de Noronha, Conde de Villa Verde,
arrived at Goa in 1693 and was i India lor the next five years,
During his Viceroyally Ramchandra Pant Amatya acted as
Rajaram’s reprosentative in Maharashtra and we come across
many letters addressed to Ramchandra Pant, his lieutenants
and their Mughal adversaries in the third volume of the
Lavros dos Reis isinhos,  We lind a relerence to the depre-
dations of the Maratha fleet n a letler addreased by the Count
of Villa Verde on the 15th June, 1695 to Ganessa Ragnalto,
(Ganesh Raghunath) the newly gppointed Governor of Konkan,
The Viceroy wrole :

“I am very glad (o hear of the selection of Your Ilonour
by Ramchandra PPandit for the Government of (he territories
of the Concan and I am very pleased to find that Your Honour
evinces in his actions a desive for amity with this Iistate. The
Portuguese always admit to their (riendship all who desire it
and so als*a will Your [Honour experience. T cannot but express
my great surprise Lthat Ramehandra Pandit should pose as a
friend of this Istate while in all his actions he shows thal (his
desire is nol rcal. He ,allows the Galvelas of the Subedars
under him, over whon he has authorily, Lo infesl our scas and
make prizes ol our Parangues. This makes me unable to®
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understand whether he desires my [riendship or makes war
against me. And for this reason I went o Rajapore to look
for the Arabs, Moreover il the Pringce Raza Rama desires (o
be our friend, he should not permit our enemics in his ports, for
he who helps our enciies does nol keep peace with us, I am
ready to accept the f{riendship of Prince Raza Rama if the
actions of his caplains and officers are those of true {riends, but
in case they lack in fidelity and the Galvetas of these Lhieves
continue their robbery, I shall have to punish them. (Reis
Visinhos, Tomo I, [ol 24). On the same date the Count
addressed a similar letter Lo the head of the Maratha Govern-
ment, Ramchandra Pandit, in which also he complains that while
the Marathas verbally profess a desire for his friendship
their actions belray a diflerent inlention.

The Counl of Villa Verde had every reason to be vexed.
The sea was no longer safe for Porluguese merchantmen and
considerable loss was caused to their trade by English and
Arab pirates, He could nol therefore be indilferent to the
amicable relations thal then exisied belween the Marathas and
the Arabs. Shivaji had once hinted that he could casily find
a willing ally in ther Arabs against his Porluguese neighbours ;
his sons demonstrated by their pro-Arab policy that the threat,
veiled though it was, was neither, empty nor impracticable, But
while the Arabs could harass the Portuguese trade in (he sea
only, the Maratha Generals could {all upon the defenceless
villages in Portuguese India and plunder them at their will,
That they did so not infrequently can be shown from three
letters addressed to Rayagi Shamraza (Baji Sham Rao?) at
different times by thfe Viceroy from November 1694 to Novem-

ber 1695,
The date of the firsl letler is illegible (Reis Visinhos,

Tomo III, {ol, 15), its language leaves no doubl, however, as lo
the irritation of the writer. “From letters [ gol sometime ago
from -Your Honour, Ramchandra Pandit aild” Santagi Gorpada,
IYlearnt that Your Honours are my friends, {or so assert all in
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the letlers mentioned above bul I find the contrary, {or Your
Honour entered our territories with the sole intention of commit.
ting robbery with the people of the Ghats and this action ig
very‘bad and so disgusted me that a..,.........order (has becn
sent ?) to Chaul for laking the island of Undry and not to allow
it any provision, and send (Lo arrest ?) (prisoner ?) all Marathas
found in our territories and to go Lo your sea porls and burn
them.” (The rest of the letter iy illegible.  The day and month
cannot be 'deciphered al all, bul the year is 1604, as the lutler
on fols, 18 and 19 is dated 13th of November, (his must have
been written some Lime previously.)

The strong language and the undoubled energy of the
Viceroy crealed an impression on the Maratha Government
and the next two letiers indicale a negolintion for amicallu
selllement,  An Indian diplomat seems Lo have been
cmployed by the Portuguese Government, 1lis name was
Ramchrisna Naique and one Apagi Iliro was requested in o
very courleous and complimentary leller to co-operate with him
on this occasion. We learn [rom this letter that Ramchandra
Pandil himself had soliciled peace and*the Vieeroy was quite
willing Lo acceptl a compensation, as his next letter Lo Rayagi
Shamraza, dated 15th November, 1095, showsy

From the letters that I received from Your Tlonour belore
your descent from the Ghats I understood that (you came) as «
{riend, but from the information [got, I {ind that contrary
(was the case) as your men entered our territories and robbed
our villagers of some oatile; I believe you will some other time
return them as also the sum ol three Rupees per head you
exacled from the villagers. [ have already sent Ramecrisna
Naique to make this complaint to Your Honour and I am still
in doubt whether your sgldiers committed (this plunder)
without Your Honour's consenl, [ shall, however, beliove that
Your Honour is in hwarl a [riend, i Your Honour and his
men return immedi‘nt‘&ly the abovementioned money that they
unjustly took and do not (in future) venture Lo enler our country'

D
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as such actions arc not permissible among friends,  As [ have
written o you I shall scttle this maller and I hope you
will also on your part try your best, Goa, 15lh November, 16gs,
Conde de Villa Verde (Reis Visinhos, Tomo 111, fol. 19).

What exactly came of this negolialion we do not know, but
the Porluguese had Lo again complain five years later against
the depredations of the Marathas hoth on land and in the sea,
This time the letter was addressed Lo Parvissaram Panla,
(Parshramy Trimbak Dratinidhi) Vallido de Rama Raze .
‘“ Received a letter from Your Honour but find m il geanly
reason [or the entry thal the fleet made in the river Zangui-
zara, and [ estimate the good relations that this Estate always
had with Ramraja finding all (to the contrary), as expericnce
has shown me, for lwice during the last year (your people)
entered our villages of the North and robbed and harassed the
villagers. (Your) Galvelas harass our Parangues thal go {rom
this city with provision and (still) Your IHonour contends that
peace has in this manner been observed.”  The letter ends with
a threat of condign punishment and hostile treatment. This
thger was writlen on thesegrd March, r7oo (Reis Visinhos, Tomo
a witfol. 23) and onrthe 14lh of the next month the Portuguese
his enment informed Sidy Tacut Can, the Abyssinian Chief
vei Janjira, that their military preparalions were meani “to
LAUSE halm lo the vlllwes of their common enemy Sivagi and
were not intended to prejudice him in any way.”

The Marathas had obtained signal success against their
Mughal enemies and were now in a position to defy the
Pmi.uguese with impunity., Bul Rajaram died in 1700, a
minor was on the throne and for the next two years al least,
as appears from the conlemporary letlers, amicable 101:1[101'113
subsisted between the (wo States. On the 20th April, 1702,
Bauvanji Mohile (Bhavanji Mohite) Subedar of Sindedurga,
(Sindhudurg or Malwan, the headqua;tals of the Maralha

navy) was not only thanked [or returning A Manchua belonging
to the Portuguese Government byt he was assyred that the
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Portuguese would ever reciprocate such friendly treatment.
A similar message was also sent to DParasharam Trimbalk
Pratinidhi, {Reis Visinhos, Tomo IV, [ol, 62). The Marathas,
as the nexi letter shows, were seeking the [riendship of their
Portuguese neighboms and hence this uncommon courlesy
and conciliatory attitude on their part.

The Viceroy, Caelano de Mello de Castro, who wrole the
letter, mentioned above, was a man of resolulion and encrgy,
He arrived in India in the latter part of the year 1703 and took
over charge of the Government on the 2nd Oclober. “ His
administration was chiefly noted for an endeavour to consolidatc
and extend Portuguese power in Lhe districts bordering upon
Goa.” He waged war agamst the Angria and the Bhonsla of
Sawantwari and reduced many strongholds belonging Lo the
latter, The King of Canara agreed Lo pay a tribule to the
Porluguese Government and for a short while its prestipe
was restored (Danvers, Porluguese in India, Vol. 11, pp. 3475-376).
His correspondent was Hindu Rao, a brother of the celebrated
general Shantaji Ghorpade, who was [or so many years a terror
to the Mughals in the Deccan, [t appears thal Hindu Rao
had taken the earliest opportunity of addressihg a leller to the
new Viceroy for the answer is dated 14th of December,
1703 ' (?). It runs as [ollows : «

Received two letlers that Your Honour,wrole Lo me, |
did not respond to the first immediately as I was informed
that Gannega Vital (Ganesh Vithal) the courier would soon
arrive at this cily with the second. He came and delivered
the letter which Your Honour wrole me. 1 undersland {hat
you wish to preserve belween this Iistate and the dominions of
His Most Felicitous Chatrapatly the friendship that formerly
exisled and which was firmly, observed when my [(ather was
Viceroy of this Estate of India, Those memories oblige me (o
what Your Honour so prizes and is so desirous of—preservalion

' The dale given In the ILduros dos Reiz Visinhos iu 1702 but Danvers snys thal tho,
Yicoroy did not avrivo in India Lefove tho Inttor pact of 1708

]
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of good rclations between us. Your Ilonour will expeiience
(the same desire) on my parl and you on your parl will direct
(your men) not to commil i these lands and these scas the
least violence Lo the Portuguese, the subjects ol the King our
master, and to give them the help and shelter they may require
in your ports, as a pact of amity demands, for I have also in the
same manner ordered thal the people of your terrilorics
should not suffer any loss in the districts of these dominions or
it the sea, should they there encountier my Armadas and should
be thus favoured and not maltreated, 1 am glad (lo receive)
the account that Your Honour sent me of the brilliant successes
in your war that commenced with the victories of the strongholds
in the neighbourhood and (I hope) the successes will well
conitinue and the army recover the loss (of the past) as Your
Flonour expects. Ganecga Vital has already twice spoken to
me and he is in this cily of Goa and I shall favour him i
everything that he may wanl and I verbally told him about
some particulars communicated to me. The said Ganecga Vilal
will mform Your Honour of the {alsity of all that as well as some
matter that I commuticated Lo him and which may be usclul
in the confirmation®of the good, relations which I hope will be
continued. Goapi4ih December, 1702 Cactano de Mello de
Castro (R. V., Tomo IV, fol. 6a), '

Friendly relajion between Lhe two stales, however, was not
destined to last long as iseevident {rom other letiers addregsed Lo
Hindu Rao and that celebraled Maratha naval leader, Kanhoji

Angria,
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VIII

FrRESID TROUBLES

On the 28th Seplember, 1703, or exactly nine mouths
after the friendly letter addressed Lo the Viceroy, the
Portuguese had again lo complain of Maratha depredations
in the®sea. By this time the greal Maratha Admiral
Kanhoji Angrin had risen Lo power and he was most
probably responsible for these [resh {roubles, Bul it will
be more convenienl (o devote a separate sectlion Lo tha
Angrias. The Portuguese Government wrote to Hindu Rao,
demanding compensation for the cxcesses commitied at
the port of Mellondim and the Isles of Candery (Maratha
Khanderi, better known as Kenery), “ Your Honour's leticr
and that of Custiayi Pantla ™ (Krishnaji Panl) so the letter
.ran, “have been delivered (o me and from them I understand
that you desire Lo continue the good relplions between the
Maharaza and this State. Yet” you do not comply much
with the high purpose of sthe same (desire for [riendship)
and give salisfaclion for the" excesses committed in the
port of Mellondim and in the Isles ol Candery, as thal musi
be well known to Your Honour. 1" do not demand such
salisfaction, but expect that all that has been robbed from
our subjecls should be restored to them without delay.”
(Reis Visinhos, Tomo [V, [ol. 74.) *

The next letter that Cactano de Mello de Castro wrote
to Hindu Rao Ghorpade also refers to the (roubles created
by the Marathas whom he® angrily calls the *thieves of
Sindi Durga, Undry and Candry.” ' Received a letter ol
¥our Honour thak »Ballagi Ram and Apagi Nillcanta
delivered to me, [ feel much obliged and beg to signify.,
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(my obligation), 1 estcem very much Your Honour's
recollection of the favour and good (reatment thai Custagi
Panta received [rom my predecessors when he was in the
neighbourhood of this State and the same [riendship wil
Your Honour experience though I justly complam of the
robberies and insolence repeatedly committed by the thicves
of Sindi Durga, Undry and Candry. The Majestic Stale
of the North has not punished them, coxpecling satisfac-
tion from Sambagi Raze, from whom I pgot a letler a
few days ago to which I responded telling him (everything)
about these (robberies) so that he might order the restis
totion of the spoils to the vassals of this State and
prohibit the repetition of the said robberies, so that the
peace and friendship between this State and - the said
Sambagt Raze may in this manner be preserved, As f{or
the offer Your Honour made me, I have already inflicted
sufficient punishment on Qhema Saunte (Khem Savanta)
vouernon As regards (?) other similar thelts, although he
earnestly solicited my pardon promising amendment (of his
conduct) [ am not prepared to [orgive him, and as he is*
an enemy ol little power I do not require any help for
his reduction. It is for thi reason that [ do not avail
mysell of the offer that Your Honour made. I shall not
forget the good will underlying the said offer and all that
[ may do Ballagi Rama and Apagi Nilcanta..,.........
they will inform Your Honour so that you may concede
what may be useful.,,.........Goa, 20d November, 1904.
Caetano de Mello de Castro. (Reis Visinhos, Tomo 1V,
fol" 1085.) :

This letter shows that the hostile activities of (Lhe
Maratha fleet did not materially affect the good relations
between the two neighbouring powers, The Portuguese
Government had written to Krishnaji Pant urging Hindu
Rao to punish the rebel Khem Savanta ¢3rd  Octlober, 1403,
.Reis Visinhos, Tomo IV, fol. 102), and it was probably in
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r’ésqponse to this letter ‘that Iindu Rao bad offered fo
assist the Porluguese in a punitive cxpedition against the
Savanta and put a stop to his piratical exploits. The
Viceroy in person led an expedition against Bicholim, one
of the strongholds ol Khem Savanta, and the castle was
capturcd and destroyed. But it is difficult fo understand
how Sambhaji Raze comes to be mentioned in this letter, In
1704, Shivaji II was still on «the throne and he was not
replaced by Sambhaji 11, his step brother till 1712, The reins
of the, Maratha Government were held by the ambitious
dowager queen Tarabai, the reigning prince’s mother, and it
does not seem probable that she should permit her step-son
a formidable political rival, considering the tendencics of those
times, o have any share in the administration or to carry on
open correspondence with the Portuguese. Is it by a mere
copyist’s mistake that Sambhaji’'s name has been substiluted
for that of Shivaji? The published Maratlu records throw no
light upon this question, but if a revolution had really taken
place at this dale it is tmpossible that the econtemporary
Marathi records and the Maratha “chronicles should be
absolutely silent about it. The question” demands further
enquiry. 1 "

[t is well known that Shivaji nol only employed a number
of Muhammadan sailors in his navy but , conferred some
important naval commands on Mwhammadan officers like
Dariya Sarang and Daulat Khan, From the unpublished
Portuguese records it appears that Muhammadans continued
to hold high offices in the (eet of Shivaji IT as well. Two
letters were addressed to one Dauda Can (Daud Khan), (Reis
Visinhos, Tomo [V, fols. 10§, toy) in the first of which his
designation is given as ** Sarnebata da Armada’ while another
Muslim officer Sahida Mera (Syed Meera), by name, is styled
as “Subedar.” In thg second letter Daud Khan is addressed
as “Subedar da Armada do Sivagy.” Probably the Subedar held
the chief command of the fleet and the “ Sarnobal was his’
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second in command. So [ar as my knowledge goes, the term
“Sarnobat ” is nol applied {o a naval oilicer in any Marathi
document, The first letier which was written on the 2nd of
November, 14705, runs as {ollows

Letler of the Secretary of State to Daud Khan, Sarnobat
of the Fleet and Syed Meera, Subedar,

““The letter of Your Honour that Custtagi brought has been
presented to the Most Ixcellent Senhor Viceroy and when
the Portuguese and the mariners of the yawl arrive at this
city, the said Most Excellent gentleman will be made acquainied
(with the facts) not however withoul some comments from the
robbed (persons) though Your Honour exculpates the people of
Ratranguery, who urges other causcs for which they will not
deliver (the ship) at the request of the Parlugueseand the mariners
Tﬁﬁ.lm,y«lwl as they leltl it wrecked on a coast., Bul this excess
Sumc’\othel thefts that are commitled on this coast the Most

llent gentleman intends to punish and ihis can no longer
'e;l';l'f'elayed. Your Honour has assisted our I?fIrm of Wz}r in t]}&
cond of Canara in pursuance of the good relation and [riendship

. you have with thi§ State and the Most Excellent gentleman
an
zratefully acknowledges this, kindness. He has ordered all
our battleships te treal your Men of War in a similar fashion,
helping them in all {hal theys may need, for the Portuguese
know how to shoy their gralitude o those who singerely scrve
them as well as to pumish those who being friends aci as
pirates whenever they can. Goa, 2nd November, 1508,

It may as well be noted here that as close neighbours the
Portuguese had diplomatic relations with the Kolhapur princes
till the firm eslablishment of the British supremacy in India
reduced Shivaji's descendants to the position of [eudatory
princes and deprived them of their diplomatic freedom. Even
in the first decade of the 1gth century, as late as 1812 Shivaji
Raze of Kolhapur solicited Portugusse an:l agamst the well
known Appa Desai of Nepani, but the I-’mtuguese prudently
“refused to ilerfere In a matler involving hostility with the
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Peshwa, then'a subordinate ally of the ILnglsh. They
pointed oul that compliance with the Chhalrapalr's request
would mean breach ol existing trealy obligations with Lhe
courl of Poona, which the Goa Government were unwilling to
risk (Letler, dated and June, 1812, Reis Visinhos, Vol. 14,
fols. 102-103). It must not however be supposed that from
the time of Shivaji II downwards the Kolhapur princes have
always been friends with the Pojluguese of Goa. Sambhaji 11
had frequent differences with his Furopean necighbows, bul
both ,the Siates had declined in power and prestige and the
results of such dilferences were scldom so serious as lo atlract

oulside notice,

[X

SOVEREIGNTY OF 1I'HE SEA, AS EXLERCISED BY THE
PORTUGURSE AND T MARATIHAS

We have found so many refercnces Lo Maratha depreda-
Lions in Lhe sea that it may not be irrelevant to discuss (heir
nalure and exlent here. In the leiter adldressed to Mindu Rao
we have seen that the Porluguese Viceroy regarded the
Maratha seamen of Sindhudurg, Henry and Ienery as pirates.
The terms “pirata” and *lcyaniado,” pirate and rebel, have
been frequently used by the Porluguese while wutmg ol the
Angrias  The Iinglish also regardaed them as corsair chiels.
Yet from a close and dispassionale examinatlion of the [acts it
appears that they were guilly of only iwo offences. They
captured and appropriated merchanimen that sailed without their
passport and they also look puasaasmn of all vessels wrecked
on their coast and the cargo found in them. This practice
was strongly resented by the, mercantile nations ol the West
and they made repeated atliempts severally and joinlly to
reduce the Anguas, bul, the Marathas werc snnply imitating the
Portuguese and exermmng as they thought, in a legilimale way
theirright of sovereignly in the sea,
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After their establishment on the Western coast of India the
Portuguese became easily the greatest sea power in the Indian
Ocean. This ascendancy they ecxercised in a high-handed
manner and jealously guarded, They compelled even friendly
states to seek their Cartaz or passporl before sending their
ships on a voyage in the Indian Ocean or the Arabian Sea.
We have already seen that in the trealy concluded with the
King of Bakla it had been clearly laid down that only four ships
belonging to thal prince will be given Carlazes for visiling
Molucca, Ormuz and Goa. The [riendly nations of Europe
were nol treated better as we learn {rom the accounts left by
many advenlurous travellers who were lured by the vague
rumours of the fabulous wealith of the gorgeous easlt in the
sixteenth and sevenleenth cenluries of the Christian era.
Writes William Hawkins '--"" The nexl day, going aboul my
affaires to the greal mans brother, 1 mel with some tenne or
twelv of our men, of the beller sort of them, very much
frighted, telling me the heaviesl newes, as I thought that ever
came unlo me, of the taking of the Barkes by a Portugal Irigat
or two and all goods and men taken, only they escaped. * #* *
It was my chance the next day, to meele with a Captaine
of one of the Portugal Frigals, who game aboul businesse sent
by the Captaine Major. The businesse, as I understood, was
that the Governourgshould send me as prisoner unto him, for
that we were Hollanders. el understanding what he was, tooke
occasion Lo speake with him of the abuses offered the King of
England, and his subjecis: his answer was, thal thesc seas
belowged unto the King of Portugall, and none ought Lo come
here without his license. [ told him, that the King of Englands
license was as good as the King of Spaines, and he that saith
the contrary, is a traylor, and & villaine, and so tel your
great Captaine, that in abusing'the King of England, he is
a base villaine, and a traylor to his Kingy and that T will main-
taine it with my sword, if he dare come on shore.” RBut
. ! Pachas, Bis T'idgumoen, Vol, 117, pp 4.8,
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neither the strong protests that the good Caplain made no
the ‘kind ' treatment  he subsequently accorded to o Portus

guese oflicer avatled him much as he tells us- " before he (Lhe
Portuguese officer) departed the Towne, my men and goods
were senl [or (ron,”

The incident mentioned by [lawkins occurred in 1608,
Three years later the Portuguese Adimiral, a more polife man
than  awking’ acquaintance, would not allow Hu Henry
Middleton to enter the port of Surats ¥ The six and twentieth,
betweene nine and ten of clocke wee weighed, having a gale of
wind which brought usinto the roade of Surat, we ridde by
the three Indian ships in seven fathom. A mile from us ridde
seven sayle of Portugall frigats or men of Warre: there were
thirteene more of them which were within the river of burat;
The Portugalls long belore our coming thither, had intelligence
that we were in the Red Sen, and bound for this place, so
that these Prigates were purposely sent to keepe us from
Trade at Sural, or clse-where, upon the Coast, The Captaine
Majort of them is called Don Trancisco de Sote Maior, is
intitled Caplaine Major of the Nowth, he rcapeth great
benefit to himselle by giving cartasses or Pasports to all ships
and Frigats, which trade upon that coast, Any ship or
Frigal which hath nol the same passe are conliscate or
lost,'

How rigorously this rule was Qniorcea can be guessed
from what Middleton says next. *“The nine and (wentieth,
there came a small Portugall Ifrigat from the Admirall of the
Armada (as they terme them) whercin was one Portugall and
his Boy who brought me answere of my Letler sent Lhe day
belore from the Captaine Major, wherein hee used some comple-
ments certifying me that he was glad to heare [ belonged to
a king a friend, and thal he and his would be readic to doe

mee service in anything he might, provided I brought a Letler
+ "
L Portugnoso ' Qnptainemon,”
2 pobye, 11ig Dilgrimes, Veol, IT, p, 172,
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or Order from the King ol Spaine, or the Viee-Roy, lor my
trading in these parts, which if T could shew him, he would
willingly obey : if otherwise, he must guard the port he. had
in charge, where the King his Master had his factorie.” '  liven
the Mughal officers had not the courage (o support Sir
Henry Middleton against the unreasonable interference of the
Portuguese.

Ceasar Fredrike also found the Poringuese claiming the
sovereignty of the sea and exercising it in the abovementioned
manner as early as 1§63. He wrote: “Diu is silnate in a
little Tland in the kingdome of Cambaia, which is the greatest
strength that the Portugals have in all the Indies, yet a small
citie, but of great trade, because there they trade very many
oreat ships for the straights of Mecca and Ormus with
marchandise, and thesc ships belong to the Moores and
Christians, but the Moores cannot trade neither saile into these
seas without the licence of the Vice-roy of the King of
Portugall, otherwise they are taken and made good prises.”
Ralph Titch seems to echo the Italian traveller when he writes
twenty years later—It ¢Diu) is but little, but well stored with
Merchandise, lor here they lade many greal ships with divers
commodities for the straight of  Mecca, for Ormus, and other
places, and these hee ships of the Mdores and of Christians.  But
the Moores cannot passe, excepL they have a Pasport [rom the
Portuguals.” #

It is needless to quate mote witnesses, sufficient evidence
has been produced as to the Portuguese naval policy and
how it was enforced against Asiatic and Iuropean nations
in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. We will now turn
to published and unpublished Portuguese records on the subject
and find out how far the Marathas trod in the footsteps of
their Portuguese neighbours and to what extent their conduct

1 Ibile B, 1?31 -
* Perchns, tis Tilgrimos, Yol, X, p. 89,
* Jbid, p, 169,
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could be held as piratical. 1L 15 needless to point out that
they should be judged by the standard of the seventeenth and s
not of the twentieth or ninetcenth century,

We have seen previously how Shivaji had tried in vain to
secure what may be termed the {reedom of the sea, for although
the Portuguese madec some minor concessions in favour of
coasting vessels and river cralts they were determined not to
permit any big ship or sea-going vesscl to sail without their
Cartaz. If the concession was not made in favour of the
Marathas neither was it made in [avour of their Muhammadan
enemies the Siddis o Janjira, In a letler addressed to Sidy
Jacat Can, on the srd of Aprl, 1700 (Reis Visinhes, Tomo,
IV, fol. 28) we find rcference to the capture and detention
of a vessel belonging either to the Siddi or to one of his
subjects, The Portuguese Governmenl protested that it was
captured on legitimate grounds, ®dz., [ailure to carry their
Cartaz, but the ship was restored to its owner in consideration
of the friendship then subsisting between the Portuguese and
the Mughal, The letter concluded with a significant sentence
that reminded the Siddi that the Dortuguese were ‘the
sovereigns of the seas and not pirates,” | Another letier on
a similar subject was again alldressed to " Sidy Acut Can,
General da Armada delRey Mogor, on the 16th Decembet,
17185, which runs as follows : Received a leiter of Your Lordship
in which you request (the restoration of "a) boat captured
by ane of the frigates of this State in Calicut and I am much
surprised at the special reasons for which Your Lordship is not
offended in this matter with as much sincerity as it deserves:

FFirst of all there is no prince in Asia who does not kpow
that the Most High and Mighty King of Portugal is sovereign
of the Seas of India and the same is acknowledged by His
Majesty the King of the Mughals and the Magnificent
Monarch of Persia inasmuch as their vessels take Cartazes
and observe all thatﬂll'}e;r are ordained to do thereby.” (Reis

Visinhos, Tomo VI, fols, 26 and 2%.)
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et us now see on what terms these Cartazes were granted
and 1o whal obligations the graniec was subjected. A number
of typical Cartazes has been published by Judice Biker, in the
fourth volume of his collection.’ These will serve our purpose
quite well, but the large masses of unpublished  Cartazes
still available in the Archives ol Goa may yicld information of
no little value or interest.

On the oth August of 1013, & Carlaz was issued in favour
of ElRey Idalxa or Adil Shah, the Muhammadan Sultan
of Bijapur. It runs as (ollows: I Dom Jeronimo d’f}zevado
cquse it to be kncwn to all who may sec it that in considera-
tion of the ancient amity that BIRey Idalxi has with this
State and as by the Lerms of the treaty he has concluded (with
ug) license and safeguard arc granted Lo him to enable six of
his ships o visit Mecea, Ormuz and other places, | have great
pleasure in giving the present license and safeguard at the
prayer of his ambassador Lo his ship Mamody (Muhammadi)
by name, tbat carries four thousand khandis (of goods), of
which the Nacods is Melique Ambar aged thirly years and
has for her defence otwelve swivels of iron, twenty muskets
and many moorish weapons thal go in it, so that she may
start from the port of Dabul where she is during the present
monsoon for Juda and return id (Dabul) without taking or
bringing any nrohibited goods, to wit Greeks, Tures, Abys-
sinians, cinamon ' of Ceylon lcad, lin, brass, timber,® planks,
saltpetre, sulphur, bamboo® and other things prohibited by
the Government. Neither will she (be permitlied lo) carry
Portuguese nor bring horses withoutl any license and she will
be* (allowed to) bring slaves, male and female of her nationa-
lity only. (But) £ {here is any suspicion or information that
some of these (slaves) are Chriﬁtians or children of Christians,

 Biker, Vol. IV, pD: 181.188.

s Nacodn—Oaptain of n Marchantman,

3 Madeirs, and the oiginal for wood 1 the abovo 4 Matp.

s o oviginal has bembus maochaos, tho last word moans sy ploce of timber, 1o, oto,,
~thab s to hefltted into anothor,
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there will be an open enquiry about them in the Provingial
Council, even if such ghildren are not baplised and before the
said . ship lecaves the port of Dabul, she will be inspected and
searched by the leilor of s Majesty who is there and
she will take his cerlificate on the back of this Carlaz. On
these conditions, her voyage both outward and homeward will
be without any inpediment from the Caplain-mors of the
Armadas, of this State or any other Caplain or persons,
and all who are hereéby enjoined will [ulfil and observe these
terms .without « any question. This shall be sealed wilh
the signet of the royal arms of the crown of Portugal
Belchoir da  Silva drew it al Goa on the glh of August
1614 and I Scerelary, Affonso Rodrigues Guevara caused
it Lo be written. Viso Rey (Dom Jeromymo de Azevedo).
It must not be supposed that a [riendly prince could
get such Cartazes for the mere asking, Another Carlaz
was issued only three days previously in favour of Lhe
Sultan of Bijapur who wanled (o send from the same
port of Dabul one of his ships Abdul ladi to Tennassa-
rim (Tenaserim). The request of thé Bijapur ambassador
was complied with, but it was.clearly stafed in the Carlaz
that  ‘“‘this was a new request nol hitherle made or con.
‘ceded,” and ‘license was given for this occasion only” in
order Lo please the Sullan and in  congideration of the
amity that existed between the two Simtes,

The terms of the Cartaz granted (o the King of Canara

‘a year laler were cerlainly more stringenl. Il is as
follows : .

I Vasco Fernandes Cezar de Menezes, (member) of
His Majesty’'s Council of Slate, Viceroy and , Capfain
General of India, ctc., make it known to all who may see
it that as the King of Canara has senl for a Cartaz to
enable one of his hoals to navigale,*1 do him lhe
favour for this occasion only of granting license and
safeguard. As his said ship Parmesuary (Parmeshwari) by’
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name, studded with nails, having a capacily of six hundred
khandis of Goa and having for her «Nacodd Tlansamma
Bapa, Curranc' Pundallica, Pilot Mahama Dagt, Condestavel ¥
Salu, Sarangue Ismal, Tandel® Abdul, and other persons
for heg navigation, carrying for her delence twenty-five
pieces of artillery, thirty muskets, thirly swords, Alty lances,
five anchors, the necessary (quantity of) powder and ball
besides other munitions of waf, Lo enable her dyring the
monsoon of the month of March or Aprl of the present
year 1714 to make her voyage from the port of Mangalor
to the ports of Congo and Ormuz. She will nof carry
slaves or Christian slives or Christian  children and i
we have suspicion or information that such (persons) are
on bhoard, an open enquiry will be made in the Irovincial
Council even if such children are not baptised. Nor will
she take or bring Abyssinians Greeks or Arabs belonging
to the terrilories owing allegiance to the Imam of Museat,
Neither shall she take a cargo of iron, steel, sulphur,
timber, bamboos-machos for trade nor goods belonging (o
Arabs even il they are not prohibited, nor shall she take
any Portuguese nor shall she go to any port thal acknow-
ledges the autlority of the Imam of Muscal or that of
the Angria or of any olher-prince or rebel with whom
this State may ke in war. Though il is (generally) pro-
hibited this ship will bring horses as a ‘special favour
conceded (o the said King thal his ship may bring them
from the ports of Congo and Ormuz, On her arrival al
that port she will unload the goods she carries in that
Factory and Custom house and pay there the usual dulies
for*which she will take from our Factor a receipt on the
hack of the Cartaz with a declaration as o the horses
she took'in those ports so that there may nol be any

o
b "he snane a8 Bongali kei1am or ghips olorif

* Qonstable, probably n patby aupervising olllsor,
* Marakhi lpndel and Indo.Mugligh tndal, o bontawain.
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doubt that they were embatked there and not in other ports
or in ports belonging lo the lmam of Muscat. I she does
anything contrary (to this) or goes to the prohibited ports
and f(akes or brings forbidden goods, this Cartaz will not be
valid and the ship shall be seized and {orleited to the ZFagenda
real, 1 thus notily the Generals and Captain-mors of the Armadas
of this State, other Captlains, officers and persons concerned
to fulil and observe these condilions in this manner and
allow the ship Lo make her outward and  relurn  voyage
withoul any impediment. After the lapse of a  year this
Cartaz will not be inforce. L will be sealed with the seal
of the royal arms of the Crown of Poitugal and it is
declared that this 1s the seventh Carlaz issued this summer
for which no fee will be paid i accordance with one of the
articles of a treaty concluded with the King of Canara.
Gregorio Mascarenhas drew it at Goa on the first of March
1914 and T Secretary Joao Rodrigues Machado caused it
to be written, Vasco [Fernandes Cezar de Menezcs. By
the decree of the Most [ixecllent Senhor Viecroy and C’lptam-
General of India dated the 27th Februafy of 1714,

The royal personages, | secking “Carlazes gencerally
according Lo treaty rights, and oocasionally as a matler of
courlesy were, doubtless lenm.ntly and courteously trealed,
but from the two Cartazes quoted above il s clear that even
these ships could Dbe confliscated eind appropriated by
Poftuguese Government if they were detected m any offence
. menlioned in the Cartaz. Lel us now examme a Cartaz
granted to a privale merchant and for Uhs purpose we give below
the text of dne granted to one Govindadas Nana a Gu]mt

merchant and published by Bikar.
The Governors of India,! cte,, make it known to all who

U Phoe Governmont of Pobuguess Indin waa al bthis timo veslod in o commission
coupisting_of folluwiug  mowtlwps, Dom  Antonio Poveiradn §elva liram de Slivaiia, Avoh
Bishop; Joun Buapbiste Vgiel mhu Chancellor of tho State ; Dom Jono Joud do Mn!lu,
Qounbiollor Goneval of the Bxehoyuer, T'his conunisgion was in chaigoe of the Govorinent
fiom 1706 Lo 1708 und T M uoxl sovon yonys Dowm dJono Jose do Mollo ascted ns Eﬂ]ﬁ

Gtavornor,
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may see this Cartaz that as Govindadas Nana a Gujrali by
nation, merchant and an inhabitant of Thana in the {ecrilorics
of the North, owner of a Gurab or Pal called Savay, of . the
capacily of one hundred and fifty khandis of Sural has solicited
Cartaz fm the same vessel we do him the honour and favour,
for this occasion only, of granting license and saleguard to the
said Gurab or Pal ealled Saway of the capacily of one hundred and
fifty khandis of Surat having [owher ballast six anchors big and
small one Sarangue Abdul Raiman by name, one Tandel called
Ballu, one Gujrati Carane and two Muhammadan pilos, and
for her defence nine pieces of artillery, eleven sepoys with
their Caitocas ! and Catanas® and the necessary (quantily of)
powder and ball, Lo enable her to sail in the lollowing sumner
to some porls of the friends of this State. She will not go Lo a
port belonging to princes and rebels with whom this State
may be in war and she shall not either take or bring on her board
Turks, Abyssinians and Greeks nor carry a cargo ol iron, steel,
sulphur, copper, Limber, bamboos-machos, nor will she take any
Portuguese nor bring horses wilhoul our permission. She is
permitled to carry slavds male or female of her own nation only
and if there is any Suspicion or doubl that any of the slaves
(on board) is a Christian, or son of a Christian, an open enquiry
ahout it will be made in the Provincial Council, even if the
children have not heen baptised. I anything is done lo the
contrary, lhis Carlaz wilinet be valid and if she goes Lo prohibit.
ed ports or bring prohthited goods or being of the tonnage {(men-
tioned) the vessel oarries more Lthan hundred and fifty khandis
of Surat it will be confiscated lo the Fazenda real. [He paid
for the duties of enlry and parting thirly xeralins ¢ al the rale
of twenly xerafins per hundred khandis of cargo nol of

t A kind of musket used by the Marabhias aifd wenafactuved fn Indip,

* A kind of long and hig sword,

* An ancient veoin oumond in Portuguese India, The l:qnbngtmga zorafln was orfghinliy
2 gold and aflmwards o pilvor coin, 14 was worth 300 "ufia (pios) or annus § anly
bha word i probebly dorived fiom Persinn Ashrafl, sop Dplgado.  Glossaric Luge Aaiabico
Blker, Vol 1V, pp. 186 and 186,
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commoditics. Notioe 18 given to this effect (o the Generals and
Captain-mors and other Caplaing and persons concerned that
they should obscrve and (ulfil these terms and let the same
vegeel make its outward and return voyage. At the expiry of a
year this Cartaz will not be in force,  This is the first (Cartaz)
issued for the next summer. [t will be sealed with the seal
of the royal arms of the Crown of Portugal. Mathias Phellipe
Rebeiro drew it at Goa on the 15th of July 1766, The
Secretary Henvique Josd de Mandanha Benevides Cirne caused
it to be written.~~Arch Bishop DPrimate—]Joao Baptista Vaz
Pereira—I). Joao José de Mello,

By virtue of the decree of the most Excellent Governors of
India, dated the r1th July, 1766,

As Govinda Das Nana was a resident of Thana he was a
Maratha subject, We come across in Biker's collection a
similar Cartaz issued in lavour of one Bapugy Gopal of Rajapur
under the Government of Puna.  His boal was a very small
one as il paid only 4 xeralins and ils capacily was therefore
twenty khandis only. This boat therefore could not afiord to
employ a number of Sepoys and carry for its defence a number
of artillery and a quantily of munition as did the Sawvay of
Govinda Das Nana, But from a blank form of Carlaz published
in the pages of Biker® 2 appears thal merchantmen were
generally well armed and well prepared for an encounter with
hostile powers or pirales i an age when the peace of the high
seas was by no means sceure,

[\ is clear from these Carlazes as well as from contemporary
letters and travellers' accounts already quoted that the Portu-
guese insisied that even [riendly polentates and their subjects
should take their Cartaz hefore they permitled any of their
ships to sail even when the port of therr destination
and the port from which they originally started were outside

Portuguese  territories, While the friendly powers were
» %

1 Bikor, Tomo 1V, pp. 185 and 1806,
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entitled lo a cerlain number of Carlazes according Lo the
terms of the treaties they had concluded with the Portuguese,
their subjects like Govinda Das Nana and Bapugy Gopal
had to pay a fee of 20 xeralins per hundred Khandis
of their cargo for the Cartaz and if they omitled 1o
provide themselves with such license and safeguard before
venturing out on the high sea their ship, and ils cargo could
be captured and conliscated by*the DPorluguese fleel even
though their mission might not have been anything hul peace-
ful trade. No doubt on the representation of the Govemmcm
of their respective country Lhe ship and the goods so “confis-
cated might be as a matter of favour restored Lo thenr owners,
but the Porluguese, as we have seen in a letler addressed to
Siddi Yacutl Khan, did not regard such confiscalion as an act of
pitacy, it was to them nothing but a legitimale cxpression of
lhe sovereignty they claimed to exercise in the Indian
Ocean. It is needless to say that the terms faid down in the
Cartazes quoted above were considered vexalious by other
nations and 1l Is only their weakness that compelled- them o seek
their Cariaz and therehy acknowledge their sovereign claims,
The Marathi word Armar is certainly derived from Por{u-
guese Armada and it is quite likely that the Marathas imitated
the Porluguese in their naval pratiice. The Angrias as the
hereditary heads of the Maratha (leet also claimed sovereigntly
of the sea and they could also retort like the Porfuguese that
thay were sovereigns of lhe sea and not pirales. They knew
in what particular manner the Po:l.uguese, the {irst Ruropean
nation to establish their supremacy in the Indian Ocean, ecxer-
cigéd their sovereignly and they also demanded that other
powers should seek their Cartaz afler paying a stipulated fee
while sailing in the sea over which they claimed (o have
established their jurisdiction, After the reduction of the
Angria's power the same right was claimed and exercised by
the Peshwa's Subedar of the Armar ot Admiral of the fleet.
«Although Marathi records do not throw much light on the
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subject, the correspondence thal passed belween Gangadhar
Pant Subedar of Gheria or Vijayadurg, the Maratha naval
headquarier and the Portuguese Goveinment in February, 1991,
leaves no doubtl as lo the real nature of the Maratha claim and
its origin.

The Governor of Goa m a letter, dated 17th February, 1491,
complained to the Subedar of Gheria that Maratha Captains
had captured withoul cause some Merchantmen belonging to
Portuguese territories. The same complaint was repeated in
a letter of the Secrclary of Slate lo Bahiropant Mehendale
(Biker, Vol. IX, pp. 185-186).in the following way .

“The vessels of the Sarkar took in the pott of Angediva,
a loaded Merchantman belonging to a meichant of that
place and at Chapora they robbed the canoes of the fishermen
withoul leaving cven their small sails, besides other incidents
to which I do not reler, for it seems thal some of them and
other hostilitics which I do not mention here, might have been
committed by the Bhonsla, Melondim and the Angria of
Colaba who use the banner of the Most IFelicitous (Peshwa).”

[n reply to the above complaint Gangadhar Pant wrole to
the Governor of Goa on the =21st February, 1791 (Biker,
Vol. IX, p. 187) as follows: “The said vessel was in the sea
and il gol no Cartaz nor had"it a passport nor the banner of
Your Excellency, [t was, therefore, justly caplured ner does
it seem Lo belong to the dominions of Your Rxcellency and |
am much surprised that under these circumsiances Your
Excellency wrote about the release of this ship.” It is signi-
ficant that the Maratha officer lays emphasis on the absence of
Cartaz and passport in this case. We learn from the
published documents of the Peshwas' Daflar that it was one of
the dulies of the Admiral of the fleet to grant passport to
Merchanimen sailing within his jurisdiclion. Moreover, we
should not forget that the merchantships in those days wene
not unarmed and Wilen they omilled to procure the passpor!
of a power claiming sovereignty over 4 particular panl of thee
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sea, their act could be consirued as a deliberaie defiance.
Merchantships belonging to Ifuropean 'Irading Companies
often put up a stiff fight before surrendermng to the Marathas
and considering the practices of the time that permitted
even vessels of the East India Company to rob ships
belonging to other nations the Marathas should not be con.
demned as pirates, They had the example of the Portuguese
before them and they thought that they were quile within
their rights when they Look possession of & merchantman that
did not carry their Cartaz and [urther aggravaled its offence by
opening fire when challenged. '

This conclusion is further confirmed by an unpublished letter
addressed to Raghuji Angria of Colaba, on the 2nd of May,
1782, The document (Reis Visinhos, Tomo 11} is sadly
- mutilated and some words in it has been so thoroughly oblilerated
that it is impossible to decipher them and reconstruct all the
sentences, Forlunately however the most inleresting portion
has been preserved. A negolialion was going on belween
the Goa Government and the Chief of Colaba for the conclusion
of a treaty of allianle and Raghunath Angria had suggested
some modifications in the terms proposed. Whalt his suggestion
was can be inferred f{rom the reply be got which runs as
follows : . :

“While (you suggest) for the preservation of unity and
amity, that with the exception of His Majesty’s ships
belonging to Goa, Diu and Daman, all vessels of the merchants
shall take the Cartaz of the Magnificent Ally (Angria) and the
ships of your merchants shall take mine. 1 am unable to
accept this article and it is impracticable, for the Crown of
Portugal has the sovereignty and the dominion of the Seca of
Asia by first occupation and conquest, by possession and
immemorial custom, and we cannot compel the subjects of the
Majestic State to take the Cartazes of any other polentate.”

But in the closing years of thé "18th century the
~soverelgnty of the sea had passed into other hands however
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tenaciously the Dortuguese might cling to a point of prestige
and although they deemed it humiliating on their part to seek
Cartazes from an Indian prince they were not unwilling to
waive the rights of sovereignty they had hitherto so rigorously
enforced, The Governor and Captain-General' therefore
wrote :

I desire to preserve amity with the Magnificent friend
on terms that will nol be mugh onerous to either party, I
shall not do anything to your merchants even if they do not
possess my Cartaz, In the same manner the fleet and the
ships of the Magnificant Ally should not interfere with the
merchants of the Majestic State even il they do not possess
the Cartaz of the Magnihicant ally,

So by common consenl the omission to take a Cartaz from
the dominant sea power was regarded as an offence punishable
with confiscation and forfeiture of the offending ship, The
Angrias were denounced as pirates and rebels by the Portuguese
and other Europcan nallons on no graver ground than the
enforcement of this sovereign right in the high seas., The
practice Lo quote the DPorluguese Governor and Captain.
General had the sanction of “immemorial cussom.”

In this connection it will not be irrelevant fo take notice of
another common naval prdctice of the Marathas, They
claimed the possession of ships wrecked on their coast with
whatever cargo they might carry. The English obtained an
exemption in favour of their own ships and those of the
Bombay merchants by peaceful negotiations, bul against others
this right was very rigorously exercised by the Maratha
Admiral of the Fleet. In the rith volume of Livres dos Reis
Visinhos we find a protracted correspondence between the
Portuguese Governor and the Maratha Admiral about the
restoration of a wrecked Manchua which the Marathas had

appropriated Lo their own use.

s ¥

! Tlom Froderion Guithoyme do Sonan, "Qovernor and Oapbain Generad from 1778 tq
1788,

L |
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On the toth of June, 1980, Dom Frederico Guilherme de
Souza wrote to ‘Dulope’ (Anand Rao Dhulap) "I solicited
a sanad for the wrecked Manchua of the Stale which was
conducted to that port.! I am sending it (the sanad) enclosed
(herewith) for Your Honour so that Your Honour may promptly
restore (?) the said Manchua ' (Reis Visinhos, Tomo 11, [ol. 4).

This Sanad had not however the desired effect for it
appears from a letter addressgd to Ananda Rao on the 4th
Febiuary, 1782 (R, V, Tomo 11, fol. 135) that the Manchua
had not yet been restored. In the meantime one IFokru herang
was driven by some adverse circumstances to take shelter in
Goa with five Gallivats of Gheria, This offered the Portuguese
an excellent opportunity for retaliating if they had been so
disposed, but the Serang was very kindly treated and supplied
with everything be needed. This news was communicated to
Ananda Rao in the abovementioned letter and we learn from a
letter addressed to Madhav Rao Narayan (fols, 158-130) that
the Serang was permilled to depart peacclully with the
squadron under his charge on the 8th of February 148a. This
made a good impression on Ananda Rao and the wrecked
Manchua was probably restored; for in a mutilated letter
addressed to Narana Sinay, the Portuguese envoy at the
Poona Court, on the 3rd Juge, '1789, ocours the following:
" Ia vos ordeney que pella rest.....,...chua naufragada que fez.”
It 15 not difficult to guess, that we find here a reference to the
restoration of Lhe wrecked Manchua,

We should not forget that the Marathas did not hesitate
to restore ships belonging to a friendly nation, if caplured
under a misconception or under doubtful circumstances. The
Portuguese Government of their own initiative sometimes wrote
to the Maratha officers for extending their protection to Portu-
guese subjects and their ships in Maratha waters, One such

letter was addressed to the Sarsubedar of Bassein on the
" e

. ' The deoumsnt {a damaged and T nm thorefore unahle to say which pov axiotly i«
noant,
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a1st March, 1783, requesting him to give his protection to a
Pal belonging to a vassal of the King of Portugal. (Reis
Visinhos, Tomo 12, fol. 39). Ifrom letters addressed to Ananda
Rao Dhulap and Naraen Sinay on the 4th of June, 1481, we
learn that [live Maratha Gallivals belonging to the fleet of
Gheria had robbed certain Parangues belonging to merchants
of Portuguese India and the total loss sustained by them on
this occaston amounted to Rs, 11,780,000, (Reis Visinhos,
Tomo 11). On the 16th August, 14781, or only two months
later Narayen Sinay was mformed that a Shibar captured on
the above occasion had been restored lo its owner with a
mohey compensation for the lost cargo. From this letter it is
apparent that the matter had been amicably settled.

The Portuguese documents present to our view only one
side of Lhe shield, We hear complaints of one partly alone,
we do not know whal justification the other party could offer.
Still we occasionally come across cases of restoration of
caplurcd ships and payment of compensation for lost cargo.
It will be, therelore, rash to condemn famous Maratha naval
leaders like Kanhoji Angria and his®sons without carefully
examining Lthe naval customs and usages»of the time. The
European merchant nations had né reasop to admire their
prowess, for their trade suffered heavily and the sea had been
rendered insecure for their ships by the Angria’s fleet, But
whenever they condescended Lo ogen negotiations with him
they consciously or unconsciously recognised his authority,
Like other Maratha {cudal chiefs Kanhoji Angria also derived
his authority [rom the supreme head of the Maratha empire.
The Portuguese styled him as a pirate and rebel in their letters
to the Siddi and other Mughal officers, bul whenever they wrote
Lo him or to his sons courtesy demanded that he should be
addressed as Grandioso Amigo or Grandioso Canogi Angria,
After treaties and alliances had been concluded bebween the
Portuguese of (b4 and the Angrias of Colaba, the former
willingly or unwillingly conceded a statlus of equality to the latter
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and it was illogical thereafler to regard their new ally as a
mere pirate, particularly when his naval practices were in com.
plete conformity with the usages established by the Portuguese
themselves, Now that we have some idea of the principle
underlying the apparently piratical activities of the Angrias and
the true character of their power, let us see what hght the
Portuguese records throw on the history of the rise, decline

and fall of this powerful family,

X

THE ANGRIAS

“The Angrias,” wrote the Marguis of Alorna in his excellent
report, ‘‘are the scourge of this coast from the point of Diu
to Calicut. They came into promimence a little before the
administration of Senhor Viceroy Castano de Mello de Castro,”
The original surname of the family was Sankapal as the Kaifiyat
Yadi account informs us, but nothing is known about Kanhoji’s
ancestors except that his father had served in Shivaji's Fleet.
Downing says that Kanhoji's father was, according to one ac-
count, “‘an Arabian<Cofferey, one that renounced the Mehometan
Jarth.” U Other agcounts say, that he was born a Kenerey, by
a Portuguese Coﬁw ey and a Keperey woman, on the Island of
Bombay.” It 1s hard]y necessary to enter inlo an examination
of the reliability of these stories.  Suffice it to say that Kanhoji
like his father took to the sea and rose from one command
to another until his daring and ability secured for him the
chief command of the Maratha fleet during the reign of
Rajaram, Those stirring times offered excellent 0ppottun1tleq
to ambitious men for proving their metal and rapidly rising to
ptominence,

In the hest lstter addressed to him by the Porluguese
Government, which we find in the Livyos dos Reis Visinhos,
Kanhoji is called Canoji Ango Rao ( Reis "Visinhos, Tomo, IV,
fel, 72). Mr. Sardesai is of opinion that the new surname of
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the lamily was derived {rom their old village Angarvadi. In this
letter, however, {or reasons unknown to us, Kanhoji's designa-
tions are entircly omitted.” In the next letter he is styled
“ Subedar da Armada do Sivaji.” The Marathas, as we have
already scen, were on {riendly terms with the Porluguese
during the early years of Shivaji Il's reign and the letter
addressed to Kanhoji Angria, on the 8th November, *1903, by
the Viceroy Caetano de Mellg de Castro also testifies to
thew amity. ‘' The letters of Your Honour have been delivered
‘to me and I am glad to recognise the good wisl: with which you
desire to {avour (me) mn everything, 1§ did not approve
of the Balandra (?) for 1easons I have already mentioned
and on the same grounds I did not permit its sale to the mer-
chants of this city, but wishing that Your Honour should get
this proht, 1 have given you license for its purchase by the
merchants of Chaul (7). As that port is closed to foreign
nations, I expect that Your Honour will view with pleasure
[or the great {avour [ have done you and 1 have also instiucted
to give all help and assistance to the people who came in
the Balandia.”  The letter also mentions some presents that
the Viceroy proposed to send and an arsangement for the
sale of some commodities which the Viceroy has asked the
Veedore da Fazenda to make,

But the good relations between the Angria and the Portu.
guese could nol be expected to last long particularly as the
former wanied to establish his authority over the Arabian
sea. In 1713 we are informed by Sr. G. Saldanha (Reswmo da
Fistoria de Gea, Baslord, 1898, p. 179} that Kanhoji seized
a port in the neighbourhood of Chaul and the Porluglese
Governmen(, unwilling (o have such a (ormidable rival
m  such close proximily of onc ol their important naval
stations, did their best (o oust him {rom this new post, but all
Lheir attempts proved futile,

The Portuguestaccused the Siddi of Janjira ol crimi-
nal indifference (o the depredations of the Angria. In a lettes
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addressed to one Dom Diogo Menedes (in the army of the

Moghu! Emperor) on the 15th of May, 1715, the Viceroy com-
plains of “the treaty that the Siddi had concluded witli the

Angria, the pirale who oppresses the subjects of the Mughal
king by his repeated robberies and totallly 1uins the port of
Surat. If the Siddi had made some movemepts by land
last year, ‘when I besieged the Angria by sea at Colaba, it
is certain that this rebe]l would bhave been annihilated.”
(Ismael Gracias, Uma Dona Portuguesa no Corfe do Grio Mopor,
p. 139) or the 16th of December, 1715, the Viceroy wrote Lo
he chief of Janjira—“It does nol seem proper thal Your
Iighness, who 1s a vassal of the Mughal Emperor and the
dmiral of his fleet, should permil the Angria Lo be an
strument of his (Mughal Emperor’s) subjects’ ruin, You
aw him with your own eyes enier Colaba with the vesscls
of Burate he had sieged, withoul frying to rescue them and
itting your vast fleet for that purpose. And if Your Highness
had not cherished so much firiendship for this pirate, you
would have co-operated with your ships and men for his
destruction and ruin swhen [ sent Caplain-mor Antonio
Cardim against Colaba Lwo years ago. This conducl scanda.
lises all in Asia _and particula}ly me, for in consideration of
the amity of the Mughal Emperfor, I send a fleet to Surat
gvery year nol only for guarding il against any enemy ... ... "
(Reis Visinhos, Tomo VII, fols, 26 and 29) A month later
the Viceroy wrote to Asad Ali Khan, offering him naval
assistance for the destiuction of the Angria. (See Gracias,
Uma Dona Portuguesa no Corte do Gréo Mogor, p. 156).

But the Portuguese did not rely on the Muhammadan enemies
of Angria alone  Though onginally a partisan of the Kolhapur
claims, Kanhoji had lately been induced by Balaji Vishwa-
nath, the celebrated founder of the Peshwa family, to offer
his allegiance Lo Shahu and swear [eally to him. This naturally
ncensed his former patron, the Chhatrﬂp:u‘t ol Kolhapur, and he
wvillingly concluded an alliance on the asrd March, 1416,
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with the DPorluguese, to punish this defeclion as the prin-
cipal clauses quoted below will show,

I, That Sambhagy Raze will wage by land and sea (all
possible) war against the Angria to iakefrom him all the for-
tresses he holds as a rebel chiel in the coast of the North,
particularly the [lortress of Griem (Gheria or Vijayadurg)
which belongs to the said Sambhaji, and for effecting
this object the (Portuguese) State will assist him with
Men-of-War, ’

4. ‘That the ships of this Stale and its subjects shall be
able to navigate f{reely withoul being seized by the ships of
Meclondim, and so that there may not be any deception, they
shall navigate with passporls : those of the North with the
passports of the General of that region or of the Captains of
the strongholds or foriresses of thal coast; those of Goa wilh
the passporis of the Government ; and those of the South with
the passporis of the Caplains and IFactors, The same practice
will be pursued with regard to ships [rom porls belonging to
Sambagy Raze, that may come lo trade with the ports of this
State, carrying Carlazes as is the practice. And neither our
nor Sambagy’s ships will pay anchorage (a duly imposed on
ships for anchoring in a harbour),

6. That if Sambagy-Raze wages war "against the rebel
Angria and nceds powder dnd ball and wants lo purchase
the same of this State, the Governmen? will send him all
(powder and ball) that it (oan spai€).

9. That this State shall give Carlaz lo a ship of Sambagi
Raze, with license to bring horses from Bassora or Congo, [t will
take a certificate of the Ifactor that this State has in thateport ;
for if it appears thal horses have been embarked at Congo or
Bassora andthe ship has not broughi such a certificate il may
be scized as forfeiled, for it will then be assumed that horses
have been embarked alt a port belonging lo the Imam of

Muscat with whomalllls Slate is al war.”
This (realy was signed and ratified by one Hari Pant on
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behall of his master with the exception ol one clause only,
which was left for the decision of the Chhatrapati.!

It does not appear that this new alliance had the desired
effect, for Sambhaji of Kolhapur was hardly compelent Lo deal
‘with a "maritime power which had defied the efforis alike of the
Portuguese, Dutch and Mahrattas.,” The Angria’s {leel ‘rode
the sea boldly seizing Merchantmen of all nationalities and the
Goa Government had to look for new allies more powerlul and
more resolute than the Siddi of Janjira or the powetless poten-
tate who then occupied the throne of Kolhapur,

The Portuguese were not the only European nation whom
the Angria had offended, the Dutch and the English Merchant-
'men also had suffered at his hands and they made répeated
attempts to reduce his power and desiroy his fleet, '‘In
November, 1712, Kanhoji captured the (English) Governor of
Bombay's armed Yachi, together with the Anue Keich of
Carwar.” Aboul the same time he had mlflicled serious loss on
a Portuguese fleel and the Porluguese at once wrote to the
Bombay Government proposing a joinl allack on Angia,
Governor Aislabi preferred peaceful negotiation and detlined
their offer, Kanhoji was either pacifically inclined or he
dreaded an Anglo-Portuguese” alliance and {riendly relations
were soon established between him and the Tnglish
Government of Bombay. Peace however did not last long
and the Angria”again resumed his hostililics.  Aislabie’s
successor Charles Boone was a man of more resolution
and warlike disposition. On his arrival al Bombay he
set himself to the difficult task of rendering the Indian Ocean
safefor the Fast India Company’s ships and flted outl a {leet
for the annihilation of Angria and other sea powers’ of
the Malabar coast. As a delailled account of Boone’s
expeditions is available to all English-knowing readers in the

* Uondicoos com que Sambngi Iase xatifien a pay 4 meimde guo lnhh com o llalade,
ricladla por nlguns dos seng Onpitaos dos fortalesan dos porlos do may, principalmonio pelo
Jupitac o Govornador da forbaloza de Melondim—Bikor, Wotno, VI, pp. 2.4,
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pages of Downing, Low and Biddulph, it is needless to repeat
it here, it may be mentioned that his eflorts mel with no more
success than those made by the Dutch and the Portuguese
before him. In 1421 a squadron under the command of
Matthews arrived at Bombay. Malthews was a naval leader
of considerable experience and had served in Europe under
Admiral Byng, His presence al Bombay naturally infused fresh
enthusiasm and vigour mto thevhearl of the Bombay govern.
ment and they decided to make fresh atlempls against the
Angria -and recover their lost prestige. Bul their receni ex-
perience had taught the English seamen to respect the
Angria’s power and ability and they deemed it unwise Lo
launch upon a fresh enterprise agamt his seagirt rocky strong-
holds  single-handed. Seven  years previously  Governor
Aislabie had rejected the proffered co-operation of the Portu-
guese. Bul in 1121 his successors had grown wiser and had con-
cluded an offensive and delensive alliance with the Goa Govern-
menl against their common enemy the Maratha Admirgl of
Colaba, The {ull text of the ({realy has been published by
Biker and an English translation is appended below.*

There will be an offensives and defensive alliance in this
(continent of) Asia against, all Asialic (powers) that may be
enemics of the two crowns of PoMugal and Great Britain, except
the Mughal Emperor and the kings of Peysia, Arabia and
China. The iwo nations will immediately commence a vigors

ous war against the Angria. In concluding any tirealy the
Angria will nol be heard and neither of the allies will listen to

anylhing touching peace unless the term proposed is simul.
taneously presented to both the allies and nothing will be

decided withoul the compliance of both the nations,
2. Ilin a given case the encmy of one of the (wo orowns

happens Lo be the friend of the other, the alliance will be only
a delensive one. Lul meither party should fail on any pretext

to help the other when atlacked in case of any invasion,
' Bikor, Tomo LLL, pp. 242-204,
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3. As regards the union of the Brilish and the Portuguese
forces for operation by land as well as by the sea, the same
rule will operate between the two powers as was followed in
the last war against Spain, to wit, the Generals of the two
nations shall command on alternale days, provided that the
Viceroy does nol come to the camp and in the same manner
the troops of the two crowns shall occupy the place of honour,
one in one battle field and the other in the next,

4. That the auxiliary troops that may be sent for
suecour (reinforcement) in all detachments and on all occasions
of fighting shall be commanded by officers holding higher
commissions whether they are English or Portuguese.

5. The auxiliary troops shall be paid and maintained by
their own sovereign as well as on land as in Lhe sea.

6. That all that may be caplured in this war in the sea
by the two allied nalions on the same occasion, shall be by
them divided [not excluding] even the munitions and things of
importance, the said spoils being first conducted to a pott in
the, Portuguese dommmn and next to a porl in the dominion
of Greal Britain, and all other things will go alternately (lo
the ports of the Portuguese aad the English), The same
practice will be ptrsued on the land only with this difference
that the spoils will be taken to the camp where everylhing
except cattle will be equally divided between the Lwo nations,
The cattle will be divided lry the officers and soldiers of the two
nations.

7. That in case goods belonging to any of the (two)
nations enter the ports or strongholds that may be taken from
the 'said enemy (Angria), they will not pay duties for
the commodities they may carry there, bult duties will
be taken only for what is sold in the said ports and sirong-
holds.

8, That each nation shall put in bz, fleld two thousand
mfantry with olficers in proportion, and with cavalry that
may be ready. I necessary a bigger body of infantry will
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be put in the field by both the parties, In the sea five
Pallas will be pul by each side with smaller vessels as may
be necessary,

9. Hach corps whether on land or on the sea shall
spend (use) munitions on its sovereign’s account, In case
one ol them requires while the other possesses it, the necessary
quantity shall be given at a just price,

10, That the fortress of Golaba and the district under
its jurisdiclion shall belong to the Crown of Portugal, the
subjecls ,of Greal Dritain shall maintain there a house like it
(the fortress ?) The fortress of Giiem and the district under
its jurisdiction shall belong Lo the Crown of Great Britain and
the subjects of the Crown of Portugal shall maintain there a
house like it, In case the subjecls of the Crown of Great
Britain desire to demolish the said [orlress of Griem, it will be
done by both the nalions and in thal case the aitillery and the
munitions shall be partitioned by the iwo nalions and an
equivalent (share) will be given to the subjeecis ol Great Britain
oul of Colaba and its jurisdiction, in which the Island of
Candrim (Kenery) will be counted., >

11, That all soldiers who may desert from one dominion
to the other shall be restored without takipng them into
service. More than one representation from the governor of
the countiry whence they have fled to the governor of the
counlry where they bave fled, forgiying the deserters their
offence will be necessary for their restoration,

12. If spoils are taken from the country of either of the
nations, it will be alter proper proofs have been produced
at once restored to the owner, ’

13. That those deserlers, who may seek Lhe protection
of either of the crowns, after commitiing in the country they
had left, a capital offence, shall nol be restored.

14.  That alter thgse lourteen articles, of the alliance
have been ratified the execution of the project will be under.
taken,, reserving for Their Majesties of Portugal and Great ¢
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Britain for ever all the rights they claim.—Goa, 20th August,
1721, Jollo Radrigues Machado.

Biddulph writes: “Long before Matihews’ arrival,
negotiations had been opened between the Portuguese Viceroy,
Frahcisco José de Sampaio e Castro, and the Bombay Counail
for a joint attack on Colaba, Through the managemenl of
Mr. Robert Cowan, who had been deputed in March to Goa
for the purpose, a treaty of enutual co-operation had been
drawn up by which the Bombay Council undertook ta furnish
two thousand men and five ships. The Portuguese authoritlies
undertook to {urnish an equal force,”

But the joint expedition was not destined to achieve better
sucoess, The morale of the Bombay men ‘habituated Lo defeat
in their attacks on Angiian strongholds’ was naturally not very
high. The first serious reverse so infuriated Matthews, always
violent and overbearing, thal he threw the whole blame on his
Portuguese allies and wantonly insulted the General of (he
North., His demeanour towards the Vieeroy could hardly be
called courteous or even polite. It is needless to say that the
highly bred and proud Forluguese officials could not tolerate the
l-manners of the English Commodore. * A little more enter-
prise on the part ef the Mahrattas ” observes Biddulph, “waould
have destroyed the whole force.”.

Kanhoji was npt a mere seaman, he was a diplomat of no
mean ability and he didenot fail to exploit the difference
among his enemies. We are told by Biddulph—‘ Angria saw
his opportunity of breaking up the alliance and opened nego-
tiations with him. On the 17th, the Viceroy wrote to the
English, proposing a suspension of arms, With a bad grace
they were obliged to consent, seeing in the negotiation, whioh
was_agamst the compactl that neither should treat separately,
further confirmation of their suspicion of treachery. Angria
granted the Portuguese [ull reparatien_ for injuries, and
formed an offensive and defensive alliance with  them,
The Englsh were lefl to shift for themselves. Full of wralh,
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'they embarked at onoe, and sailed for Bombay on the
28ih.”

Let us now hear the other ally. On the 14th September,

1722, the Viceroy Irancisco José de Sampaio e Castro address-
ed a letter to the King of Portugal about the war withithe
" Angria in which he offers the following explanation for his
failure !

““As 'the Angria got the information (of the intended ex-
‘pedition) months before (it was undertaken), he opened his
treasury and invited his relatives and allies, who are more
powet{ul than he and solicited Shahu Raja (son of Sambagi who,
in the days of Viceroy Conde de Alvor, waged a cruel war simul-
taneously against Goa and its islands, Salcete® and Bardes,
and all our strongholds of the North) (to help him). Before I
reached Chaul, Pilagi Zod6 (Pilaji Jadhava) came to help him
with two thousand cavalry besides a {orce of infantry. Not-
withstanding his opposition, I fixed my camp and {ought several
actions with reciprocal fortune inclined Lo our favour., A few
days after seven thousand cavalry arrived wilth Baji Rao, the
Generalissimo of Shahu Raja, and subsequently more cavalry
came and their number exceeded twenty-five thousand. No
pitched battle was fought hetween the two, armies not oply
because I was laid down with a_severe fever thal then raged
in our camp and which aggravated so rr:uch that 1 was
‘compelled lo withdraw to my ship, but also because the said
tGenecralissimo inviled me 1o conclude a peace. In these
circumngtances as his army was much bigger than ours, and
I was in the abovementlioned condition, 1 considered it prudent
to accept his proposal and I concluded the treaty (with articles)
4 copy of which is herewitlh sent. The said Baji Rao, perhaps
at the inslance of the Angria, was unwilling to conclude a
treaty with the [inglish and I did not come to terms with the

Angria divectly but with Shahu Raja,”

"
* Tikory, Tomo IEX, pp. 800-801,
7 Mhig in different hom Balaotle noar Bombay,
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So the Viceroy had observed the letter of the treaty
of alliance though il was certainly violated I spirit, but
probably he had no other alternative, Ile was no friend of the
Angria and long before the joint expedition was ready ; Angria
had sent him a proposal of peace through the General of the
North.! Had he been so inclined the Viceroy could certainly
secure favourable terms withoul shedding a drop of Portuguese
blood and without spending a ez of Portuguese money, His
sincerity therefore was above suspicion. A student of Maratha
History cannol bul take nolice of one fact in this connection.
Whereas Balaji Baji Rao mvited the Inglish Lo join"him in an
expedition for the rumn of Tulaji, son of Kanhoji, Baji Rao stood
firmly by Tulaji’s father when attacked by the allied Anglo.
Portuguese army. Both the chicls still remembered that they
served a common master and the same empire.

After Kanhoji's death, the reputation of his house was
maintained by Shekoji, Sambhaji, Tulaji and Manaji. But there -
was no unity among the brothers and their disunion ultimately
caused their ruin,

From a manuscript in the public library of Fvora quoted
by Ismael Graocias in his szz‘a!aga dos Livros do Assentamenio
da Gente de Guerra que veio do Reino para a India desde r &l
atd 18171 1t appears that a Portuguese {leet that had left the
mother country in the previous year encounicred in 1739
Sambhaji  Angria’s fleet of seven Pals and ten Gallivats
and inflicted a defeal ‘on it near the southern coast 15'~54",
Marquis of Lourigal reported on the grd January, 1741
another victory against Sambhaji’s fleet on'the 22nd of November,
1741, in the same letter the Marquis tells us that a vessel
belonging to Labourdannais’s squadron was capiured by the
Angria while going south {rom Goa and conducted to Rajapur.
These victories however did not render the sca sufficiently
safe for Portuguese Merchantmen,fc}f in 1740 the Angria had

f

! Donvers, Portugueso in Tadin, Vol, IT, p, 801,
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destroyed a Portuguese fleet (Diogo da Cnsta, Relagdio das
Guerras da India quoted in Teixeira de Argao’s Deseripodo das
Moedas, Tomo 111} and on the 1ath of Seplember, 1744, the
Senate of Daman represented to the Goa authorities Lhat
they were suffering terribly on account of the Angria’s depreda.
tions. (Moniz, WNoticias Documentos para a Historia de
Damdo, Tomo I). So many naval actions belween the
Portuguese and the Angria's faet are mentioned, thal space
forbids even a brief notice of them here.

Buf it will be a mistake to think that the Angria brothers
bad always been unfriendly towards the Portuguese. With (he
death of Kanhoji and the gradual transfer of the Chhatrapati's
authority to the Peshwa’s hands, the relation between the
hereditary Admiral and the hereditary Prime Minisier became
more and moye strained, Il appears from the lelters in the
eighth volume of the ZLivros dos Reis Visinhos that while
Chimnaji Appa was engaged in the memorable siege of Bassein
both Manaji and Sambhaji were carrying on [{riendly COITESPON
dence with the Porluguese, and there is reason to believe the
Portuguese got {rom time to lime welcome supplies of provision
from Sambhaji. On the 2nd of December, 1741, the Marquis
of Lourigal wrole a letlerlo Sambhaji Angria evidently in
response  {o his request [or the conclusion of a treaty of
alliance, .

“The letter dated the 12th of Novgmber, that I received on
the 25th of the same month, gave me much pleasure as I found
that Your Honour remembers the friendly relations that existed
between me when [or the first time I governed this Ma]estlc
State and your father the glch Canogi Angria and as in those
days I had so many experiences of lthe firmness of his word I
hope that Your Honour also will show the same fidelity and
sincerity that I may on my deparlure convey to the feet of
the throne of the I{mg 0[, Porlugal my master.” The Viceroy
requested Shambhaijt "o depute a reliable person to Goa
(who will always be well received) for concluding a (reaty
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against their common enemies. (Reis Visinhos, Tomo [X

fol, 148)}

From Sambhaji let us twin o his brothers Tulajt and
Manaji of whom we find the following estimate in the Report
of the Marquis of Alornas.

“The Angrias.........by their piracies rose to such power
that to-day they are dreaded and respected by all. These two
brothers (have) divided their dominion in {wo parts. The first
called Tulagy Angria who has made his headquarters at Gheria
is the nearest neighbour lo Goa and is very powerfwl. The
second called Managy Angria has established himself at
Colaba near Bombay The latter, (who) is near the Province
of the North, has his dominions encircled by the possessions
of Nana and has always solicited our friendship and desires
anxiously that we should recover thatl province so that he may
have in us a betler neighbour than the Marathas from whom
he has received continuous nsults. Since I arrived here,
there was not a single occasion when he did nol offer me his
maritime forces for some enterprise principally against Nana,
Never did I give any positive reply nor omit to thank him for
his good wishes and I was keeping up fiiendly correspondence
with hilm, I did not (venture to) enier into negotiations with
him, for I happened to know that he is always drunk and does
not know how to read or wrile. All his negoliations are made
through his Brahmins who dominate and hoodwink him, for he
cannot by himself examine or decide them, and any negotiation,
had it been proposed to him, would be known to Nana Lthrougl
thése (same) Brahmins, In these circumstances, I do not
know under which class, that of friends or that of enemieg to
place this chieftain, but it is safest to count him a neutral so
long as his differénce with Nana lasts,

During the last four years Tulagy Angria has proposed
peace on several occasions for sceing the fair success that

' Volame X of Rels Visinhos is go much damagad thal only o fow lotlers counld be
“with diffoulby deoiplis ed.
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Divine Providence gave us against the Bhonsla, he proposed
to me thal we should both unite to attack the common enemy,
[ rephed that i through God's grace we had obtained what we
wanied withoul his help, we nceded it much less now. When
the French squadron came (o winter in this port, he feared
that we might come against Gheria in alliance with the French
and persistently repcated the same proposal and further
extended it so that he not only solicited peace with us but
also wanted that I should act as a mediator for the treaty that
he contemplated with the Irench, From this I perceived that
in this "proposal it was fear that prompted him rather than a
desire for peace.

When reinforcement arrived in 1748, supposing it of
greater strength than il really was, he urged me anew for an
alliance soliciting from me help for a united attack on the
fort of Monsurem, which place the Bhonsla had  taken from
him by surprise a short while ago, and desiiing that 1 should
sell him the stronghold of Neutim, and the Kailim river
which he had IJately conquered, This proposal I at once
rejected on various pretexts, {or the place is only ten leagues
{rom the Bar of Goa and because the neighbourhood of
the Angria is more perilous than thal of the Bhonsla. I
listened to his olher proposals being certain that they would
have no effect. I replied that as the expedition would be
to his interest only and nol Lo ours, he must pay the ex-
penses of the Fleet and the munitions., IHe genérously said
that he was ready to meet all the costs and enquired about
the amountl to remil it. [ asked of him two hundred thou.
sand rupees Lo which he replied that he would at once ‘put
himself in the field in order to march, that I should send
the reinforcement, and added that what touched the pay-
menl of expenses between friends could be adjusted alter
the action, which was the most clever way ol saying that
he would notl pay E‘fl‘i'yﬂling, and as | perceived this I jkept
him in suspense about this ncgotiation wilthout definilelys
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concluding it either way. In the meantime he paid our
vessels some attenlion. His envoy is actually waiting for
our answers and the final conclusion (of the treaty),
Your Excellency will find the proposal for peace he made
in the Secretariat and whatever it may be, Your Hxcellency
may be sure that it will not have more duration, [irmness
and subsistence than the opportunity it offers to the interest
of this chieftain and whateyer may be the promises and
oaths of treaty there is no faith nor law that predominates
his convenience.” "

The Marquis counselled his successor to advance a loan
to Tulaji and thereby purchase the security of the Mortuguese
Merchantmen,

Apart from the drunkenness of Manaji and the un-
trustworthiness of Tulaji there was another impedimenti, by
no means trifling, that stood in the way of a Portuguesc
alliance with the Angrias against the dreaded Peshwa of Poona.,
By the fifth article of their capilulation in 1740 (of Basscin) the
Portuguese had undertaken Lo help the Peshwa with their (leet
if he waged a war against the Angria.

A treaty was concluded with Tulaji five years after
the Marquis of, Alorna’s departure from India, on the sth
November, 1755. Tulaji stood in sore need of an ally, as
tne Peshwa was determined (o effect his ruin, The Angria
chieftain tried his besl to, conciliale the English at this crisis,
but the Bombay Government, now conscious of their increased
strength refused to ‘take passes of any Indian nation.’ Tulaji
had no other alternalive but to turn to his other European
neighbour the Portuguese and his approaches were not
repulsed by the ruling Viceroy, the Conde de Alva, the only
Portuguese Viceroy who was killed i action on the Indian soil.
A tlieaty was accordmngly concluded. The text may not
prove altogether uninteresting to a  student of Maratha
history although the purport of the treaty 18 alrcady well known.
» 1. The Most [llustrious and the Most IExcellent Sr, D,
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Lutz Mascarenhas, Conde de Alva, Viceroy and Captain
General of India, having allended to the demonstration with
which His Ilighness Tullagi Angria Sarquel sent to represent
whal pleasure he will derive from peace and amity wilh Lhe
Majestic State and having expressed his genuine repentance
for the past discords has [orgotien them all and conceded to
him (Angria) his (Viceroy’s) protection and support.

[I. To prevent the perd with which HMis Highness
(Q Grandioso) Tullagi Angria Sarquel {inds himself threatened
in (his) war with Balaji Bagi Rao, the Most Illustrious and
the Most Excellent Sr. Count Viceroy grants him a rein.
forcemenl of five hundred men to be employed principally in
the defence of his stronghold and to be quartered in his
Capital at (nicm, and never on any occasion should the
corps of reinforcement be separated without the order and .
consent of its Commandant,

[T, s IHighness Tullagi Angria Sarquel will pay the
same troops punctually through his Estate in accordance with
Lthe lists of pay that will have to be given hm by the Matricula
geral of the State, copies of which will be taken by the
Commandant, .

IV. He is equally bound to quarter the troops with all possible
convenience in the fortress of (ricm, in separate places f{rom
[Iindus and Muhammadans, in conformity jwith the mode of
hving of the Christians, and they wil} have Lhe necessary liberty
for Lhe exercise of the Catholic 1e11g10n and the cult Divine.

V. The necessary foods and provisions will be supplied
them at the order of His Highness Angria Sarquel at the
price currenl in this city of which an authentic report also
will have Lo be submilted and as porks, kids, wheat, baked
rice (arrozcozido) and coeoanut oil cannot be obtained in his .
tervitories, these will be transported from this city lo the said
stronghold in a couuspmndmg ship supplied by His Highness
Tullagi Angria Sarquel

VI. Payment shall be made to the officers of il
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troops in this cily Lo enable them to purchase necessary
provision for their subsistence and it shall be transported in
accordance with the preceding article. 1Ilis Ilighness Tullagi
Angria shall be obliged (o receive all our munitions and to
return the same quantity without any diminution,

VII. His Highness Tullagi Angria shall pay lo the
Fazenda real two lakhs of Rupees.

VIIL. To assure the last and other articles of the treaty
discussed, the abovementioned envoys shall remain as hostages
in the city till the return of the tioops that may be senl ab re-
inforcement at the end of the present summer. "

[X. On the payment of the first (instalment of) one
hundred thousand Rupees in the FFazenda real the Majestic
State shall immediately send one company of Grenadiers to
reinforce the said stronghold of Griem, and on the payment of
the second (instalment of) {of the same sum of} onc hundred
thousand Rupees al the latest twenty days after (the first pay-
ment) as His Highness Tullagi Aogria Sarquel is bound (Lo
make), the rest of the reinforcement shall go.

X. The Portuguese willnot fight with the English in the sca
to effect the introduclion of these troops in the stronghoeld of
Griem, for that will be an mfraction of the peace existing between
the Portuguese and the English both in Europe and in Asia.

X1l Another copy of this treaty shall be made with the
same terms and after both have been confirmed by signatures
and seals, one shall be sent 1o be kept n the Secretarial of the
Majestic State and the other shall be sent to His Highness
Tullagi Angria Sarquel, having in this form setlled aboul the
despatch of the auxiliary troops the benefit of this treaty will be
an efficacious means for a firm friendship between the contract-
ing parties. Drawn in the Secretary of State’s olfice and
signed on the 5th of November, 1755 Seal of the Royal
Arms. Belchoir José Vaz de Carvalhg. Ramagi Rédo Rane
(Cand Yanta—~Custangi Zaetapurcar.! o
~ * Bikey, Tome YII, pp, 8088,
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In the negotiations of this trealy one Ismael KKhan (possibly
the Governor of Goddo mentioned by the Marquis of Alorna)
seems Lo have played an important part, (See Tulajr’s letters,
Biker, Tomo VII, pp. 39-42.) |

The treaty was signed on the Ofth of November and it
speaks volumes for the efficiency of the Peshwa's intelligence
department that he obtained so early information about it that
he was able to send a protest on*the ninth, only four days Iater.
To this protest the Viceroy replied in the following manner on
the 4th January, 1756

“The news of Your Highness (hiterally great friend) ate
always pleasing to me. Tuca Sinay has communicated to Your
Highness all the circumstances that led to the proceedings in
which Tullagi Angria solicited the protection of the Majestic
Estate. I did not permit myself 1o be persuaded of his friend-
ship, nor did [ desire to prepare a way that might alter the
amily and good relations that the Majestic State has with Your
Highness, and while the cause would not be justified, the
knowledge of Tullagt Angria’s lack of faith is enough for me.
He has kept his faith in a manner as has compelled me to order
the return of the {ew persons that I sent him for guarding his
family and (to direct) that they may return it such a manner,
as he had often indicated to me, to avoid during their passage
any molestation for stopping this small favour, that in no way
will thiey oppose the progress of Your Highness, You may
remain sure that I, on my part, enterlain an equal desire for our
friendly relations which may daily increase and augment more
and more," .

On the same date a letter was addresseéd to the Peshwa by
the Secretary of State in which he said :

“ As regards the miformation sent by the Captain in the
Angria’s (territories) Lo Your Highness that the Majestic
State has despatcheds a reinforcement to the said Angria for
the defence of his lands, [ can assure you thal there is [ittle
(ruth in it. Lven (he guard that Ismal Can has sent to the
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~ above mentioned Angria was only for the defence of his {*m'nlyl_
" on the express condition that they will not fight agcunst the

troops of Your HIghness or of any other Captain who s in

.peace with us.’ ’ |
‘On the 20th of January Tulaji was informed by the Count

| -o_f_ Alva that as the articles of the late treaty were not being
loyally observed by the Angria, the alliance & should be

 considered to have come to anrend. _.
~ In the same year the Peshwa’s General with his English .

allies invaded Tulaji Angria’s territories. ‘Gherta was captured
by the English and Tulaji surrendered to the Marathas, The
| Peshw_a contributed to the downfall of the Maratha naval
power. The Maratha banner was no more dreaded in the sea
and ‘the name of Angria became only a legend and the
soverelgnty of the sea so long contested by Kanhoji and his
valiant sons definitely passed into the hands of a power who
half a century later occupled Poona and pensioned off the ruling
Peshwa. | | | i

~ The Colaba branch of the Anglm family still continued to
enjoy their feudal rights and privileges and they maintained a
fleet, ‘but theu old prestige WAS entirely | gane with the dEOIIIlB.

| -of thelr power, -
In January 17*?8 4 treaty was concluded between the Goa

- Government and [Raghuji Angria, Lord of Colaba. It shows

~how anxmus the Partuguese were to maintain a [11011d1y relation -

.__.wﬂ:h Raghup though he cauld mﬂmt llttle loss on the IIlGlCalllllE" |
_;navy 0E Pﬂrtugal " o | - | o

“If the ﬂeet of the Ma]estw State or any men-of war -

of the fortresses of Dlu and Daman meet the Fleet of Colaba,
it ‘will send a small boat to give mfarmal:mn for rec1plocal*
treatment in demonstratlon of the existing amity, |

The ships of Colaba shall be able to come héely to .

this purt of Goa and to go to Daman and Diu for the benefit of
their commerce, with the passport of IIls Ihghness R:lghu]l"_t

Rngrxa, Lord of Colaba, to show that Lhey are hlS 3le]¢0ts. o

" a
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gy In I:he same manner shlps belcngmg to- the Bub]wts”
of the Majestic State, either of this ity or of Daman and Diu,

| '“-"'.shall freely continue their trade with: the. ports of Colaba with

-tha passlmrt of the State and of their respective government,
s ‘When by some chance the fleet of Raghuji Angtia,
':'Lc}rd r:-f Colaba, comes to th15 port of Goa or to those of
‘Daman and Diu it will be given a good reception permlttmg o
it to purchase at a just price all cpmmodities that it may need;
and the same treatment shall be accorded in the ports of
Colaba to the fleet and other vessels of Goa, Daman and Din,
5. "If the fleet of Colaba enters any of the ports of Gioa, -
‘Daman and Diu with any prize ship or other vessels not
belonging to the dominions of the Majestic State, no obstruc-
tion will be offered and in case the Armada of the Majestic
State meets the said Armada of Colaba with such prize in the
Southern or the Northern coast, they will hoist their bahhﬁrs
and pursue theit course after making a signal of a cannon
shot and without makmg any enqmry about each @ther or

~about their prize.
VI. When His I{1g11ness Raghuji Angrla, Lorﬁl of Cﬂlaba,_ -

-reqmres the help or assistance of the Ma;estu; State, he w:ll_ :
demand and it will be accorded. The Ma]estlo otate in itz
.turn will do the same in case it has the same need and tha
two powers will obsetve this article with remprmclty
" Two- copies of the present treatqy will be drawn up with
~ ‘the same terms for. being sealed and signed and for remprmcal o
'-abservance and perpetual fulfilment and for the presarvatwn
of a firm amity ‘that should subsist. between fhe two. parties,
‘ong copy will be sent-ta His Htghness Raghuji Angria; Lerd
- of Colaba, and the other. will be preserved in the Secretarlat |
~ of the Majestic. State. Goa, 7th of January, 1778. The Red
'*;"-'.'.f.mark of the Governnr D. Jos6 Pedro da Camara.
The gaod 161.«.1L10n 50 ﬂstabhshed seems Lo have contmued
undmturbed for. Rﬂg‘hhnath was not in a position to pursue the
| aggresswe pohcy of his famous predecessars In the 12th valume
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of the Livros dos Reis Visinhos we find a letter addressed (o
“ Grandioso Ragogi Angria Vazaral Mav Sarquel Rezidente da
Ilha de Culabo ” ( fol. 12 ) on the 14th December, 1482, We need
not quote the whole letter which testifies to the amity that then
existed belween the Governments of Goa and Colaba. The
following extract will illustrate the spitit that runs through it
“] am sure that Your Highness will not have to reject the
friendship of the Majestic State, that is to the interest o
both the parties, till we can submit to His Majesty...more
favourable terms accordmg to your Highness's desire...... the
decision of my sovereign.’

We cannot conclude this section without making a reference
to another Angria who bore the same name as the Lord of
Colaba. We come across three letters addressed Lo him in
the 11th volume of the Zwwros dos Reis Visinhos. Fe is
differently called Raghuji and Raghunathji, but he 1s styled as
‘Cabo da Armada de Awdar Aly Can’ or Captain of Haidar
Ali’s fleet. It is possible that a scion of the Angria famfly
had entered FHadar's service after the fall of Gheria. We
know nothing however about Haidar Ali's Captain Raghuji.
It will be somewhat rash to identify him with the Lord of
Colaba. For while the one 1s distinclly siyled as Cado da
Armada de Aidar Aly, the other is always mentioned as Lord
of Colaba pmbah]y to dlstmgulsh him from his less exalted
namesake, He m1ght be closely related to Tulaji whose line
became extinctl accmdmg to the Patre Yadi accouni. It is
needless to say that Haidar would gladly welcome an Angria
in his country and put him in charge of his fleet as the repula-
tion of this family of seamen as intrepid naval leaders had
spread all over the Deccan.
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X1
THE PESHWAS! A‘RMY.

The Porluguesc papers could not be allogether silent about
the Maratha aimy. The Marathas were the most formidable
enemy they had in India,  Chimnaji Appa had conquered
Salsette, Bassein and the neighbouring disiricts from their
Portuguese rulers and the papers regarding that campaign
publisheq by the Lale Sr, Ismael Gracias throw much light
upon the military organisation and the mililary tactics of the
Marathas while at the zenith of their power. Quoted below is
an estimate of the Maratha army from the pen of an able
and intelligent Viceroy, the Marquis of Alorna. It should
be noled that the delects of the Maratha military system did .
nol cscape this intelligent foreign observer :

“From what experience I have of i, I do not consider that
the army of the Marathas and of other princes, thal has by
rumour such an age-long reputation in this part as in (the rest
of} Asia and in Iurope, is anything more formidable than a
rabble. I would have no hesitation with a corps of five
thousand regular soldiers to atlack such an army though
fifty thousand (strong). The disorder that they have in their
army is Lthe same they observe in marching angl in encampment,
Their army differs little from that ofjthe Gypsies; each one
finds out a place, a shadc or a tree that sullices to accommodate
him, they have little vigilance of guards or sentinels and are in
this respect very casily (lo be) surprised. %This militia s
divided into three corps, cavalry, infaniry and armed elephants,
The cavalry is composed of a few good horses and an infinite
number of sorry jades called nags. Some soldiers of this corps
are armed with lances, others with large swords. The Sipaes
of the mlanlry are armjed with Callocas which 1s a kind of
small frearm carrie?’ by them much more [requently than
our arms, and some wilh one or (wo long and large swords and »
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others with bow and arrow. An infinite number of men called
Fakirs always follow the army, who are not men of arms, nor
fighters by profession, but who only rob and ravage the country
they pass through. Tife elephants, taught and trained for
war, are of the greatest value to the Hindus, when they are
intrepid and not afraid of noise. Princes, generals and distin-
guished persons mount them ; they are used to attack the enemy
carrying different platoons ofrmen armed with bow and arrow,
When infurialed they cause greal harm with the trunk. There
are elephants (when they have all Lhe necessary qualilies) that
sell for twenty thousand rupees. These troops are not such
as can get a firm footing (against) an enemy, and attack him
with an intrepid resolution, All their operations consist in
sallies, surprises and ambuscades; and in woods and defiles,
supposed to be safe, they are terrible and very formidable on
the road (after rout); finally these troops are a kind of
Pendhari with less ferocity and courage hut exceedingly cunning
to-find out any disorder or advantage. The more important
of their enterprises terminate tore in causing harm, robbery
and devastation of the country than in fighting battles decided
by sword, by fire, and causing greal horror,

The dread that all have for the Maratha spreads before
their armies and announces.to the provinces through which
they pass and At greater distances the loss wilh which they
menace them. This compels them to send immediately emis.
saries to the armies to escape by (giving) many lakhs of rupees
the ruin with which they are threatened. When the expedition
is ﬁmshed the armies gather without unsheathing the sword,
an immense spoil and wealth whioh at times are not equivalent
to. the expenses incurred for the allied troops to whom one
rupee per day is paid for each man and five hundred rupees
for each horse that is wounded, lost or killed in the invasion.
If similar troops had dxsmphne and Lcourage in proportion Lo
other citcumstances, they would be invineible. None endure

rso many hardships as these: they do not require military
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uniforms for they travel naked {rom waist upward, with three or
[our apas, a kind of cake made of rice or wheat which they get
{or eating for a number of days and for this reason it is excused
from the great embarrassment of #arriages thal a big army
requires for carrying provisions, By extensive and repeated
incurstons, the Marathas have inspired such terror and panic in
the whole of Asia {rom the Indus to the Ganges that all yield
to them and none resists them. , Many times they have arrived
to touch with their lance the walls of Delhi and Agra, capitals
of the Grand Mogul. The kingdoms of Cambay and Gujrat,
the prownces of Arcot and the Carnatic and all the districts
of Bengal bave recently been the pitiful theatre of their
destructions, whence they have extorted and actually carried
away immense wealth thereby making the treasury of the same
Mogul diminish considerably,” "

This 1s the estimate of the slrength and the weakness of
the Maratha army that we have fmm a very shrewd foreign
observer whose interest it was Lo sccure reliable and accurate
information,

Though the Marathas had their own cannon foundries;
they relied more upon a supply, of artillery and ammunition
from their Luropean neighbours than on their own manufactures,
The fifth article of a treaty concluded between the Portuguese
Government and the Peshwa Baji Rao on iht gth January, 1722
(just after the joint  Anglo-Portuguese expedilion against
Kanhoji Angria's head.quarters) permitied the” Peshwa to
purchase artillery, ball and powder in Portuguese territories
at 4 just, price (Biker, VI, pp. 10<12), Naran Vithal Duma,
the Portuguese agent, was asked by the Poona Governtent
o mform the Viceroy that the Peshwa wanted a supply of hig
and small bronze cannons of the latest type wilh necessary
munitions, balls and powder in view of the likelihood of a war
(Biker, V1II, p. 236) Jirom a letler addressed to Ananda Rao
Dhulap on the afd %ptembm, 1982 (Reis Visinhos, Toma

11, [olno. obliterated) it appears thal he had asked for a supply
)

1
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"of sulphur and the Portuguese authorities had promptly found

the quantity- required. Parashuram Bhau Patwardhan also,
while engaged in the siege of Dharwar had approached the
Portuguese authorities at Goa for the munitions he wanted and
as the Goa merchants were not then in a position to supply
any gunpowder, twenty-five KKhandis of powder was given
gratis out of the Government stock (Biker, Vol IX, pp. 212-
213). A letterin the tenth volume of the Livres dos Reis
Visinhos shows that Mahadaji Sindhia also purchased powder
from the Portuguese. .

Butit is not artillery, balls and powder alone that the
Marathas purchased from their Portuguese neighbours, In
1760 Peshwa Balaji .Baji Rao formed an alliance with the
Portuguese for the conquest of Janjira. The Porluguese
Government undertook to send at the Peshwa’s expense a
Portuguese auxiliary force to co-operate with the Marathas i
the projected expedition. The Maratha disaster at Panipat
saved lucky Janjira from conquest and annexation. During
the civil war that distracted Maharashtra afler the murder
of Narayan Rao both of the conlending parties sought
military aid from Goa. In a, memorial presented to Nana
Fadnavis by the Portuguese agent, Narana Rao Vithal it
was mentioned as a proof of their [riendship that the
Portuguese had refused the assistance solicited by Ragh.
unath Rao and had delivegred into the hands of the Maratha
authorities; Tulagi Panvar, a criminal guilly of  lese magestad,
(Biker, Vol, VIII, p. 249.) They were willing to assisi the
mmlsterlal party *provided they offered a sufficiently tempting
price as we read in a letter addressed to * O Illustre Honorado
s valoroso Mhadagy Sind6, Superior de grande Exercito de
Milicias "' (Reis Visinhos, Tomo 11,+fol). “In considera-
lon of the amity that prevails between the Majestic State
ind the Most Felicilous Madou Rao I)]maen Pradan, [ am
yrepared to help him against his enemy, His Iighness
Xagoba, with the troops of the State if the Most Ielicitous °

n

F 3
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Peshwa orders the restoration Lo this State its ancient domi- "

nions, the fortress of Bacaim (Bassein) with all its jurisdiction

~and all the villages of Daman after a settlement convenient to

both the parties” (8th July, 1788). What reply Mahadaji
Sindhia, then the mainstay of the ministerial party, vouchsafed
to this letter we do not know, but it is apparent that the price
demanded by the Portuguese was deemed exorbitant by the
partisans of the young Peshwa.

Space does not permit me to quote here the full text of a
treaty concluded between the Portuguese and the Peshwa in
1779 When the Poona Government ceded the Pargana of
Nagar Haveli to the Portuguese Government. Its terms are
somewhat analugc;us to those of the trealy concluded by the
Portuguese with Raghuji Angria, Lord of Kolaba, and provides
for reciprocal friendly treatment between the two States and
their respective subjects. A Portuguese translation of the
original Marathi text by Ananta Camotim Vaga, a Shenvi
linguist in the Portuguese servioe will be found in  Noticins e
Documentos para A Historie de Damie by Antonio Francisco
Moniz (junior) (pp. 20%-211). .

Most of the treaties that the  Portuguese concluded with
the successive Peshwas provided for freedom of trade and it
appears Lhat the Peshwas’ officers did not forget to secure trade
facilities for their own countrymen. Thus, Whe treaty of peace
and amity between Senhor M. da S1lve11o de Menezes, Captain
General of the fortresses and terfitories of the North and
Senhor Chrishna Rao Mahadeo, Governor of Galliana (Kalyan)
(1731-1732, 30 January-1o [February) not omly provided for
the free movement of merchantmen but also laid downthat
after the terms of the treaty had been ratified the merohants
of Kalyan and Bhivandi would be allowed to have a bazar in
the city of Bassein where they required one for their irade.
(Biker, Vol, VL. pp. 145-1498.) The {ollowing unpublished letter
{rom the 11th volymse™[ the Zivros dos Reis Visinkos may

.not prove altogether uninteresting as it tells us how silk
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" and other products of China found their way to the
Maratha . holy place of Pandharpur through the enterprise
of Portuguese and Maratha subjects. “To Naraena Sinay,

"Dumo: Gopala NaiquenCanado, Bapugi Naique Canado, and
Bapugi Naique Parque, merchants of Pandarpur, purchased
from the merchants of the State a large cargo of silk and other
stuffs of China that the tradesmen of Macau brought to this
capital in their boats last year. I did not appear Lo me that
they traded with the English. It is certain that both Maocau
whence these stuffs came and this oity where they were sold
belong to the Royal Crown of Porlugal. From (he répresen-
tations made by the said merchants I learn that jhe said stuffs
are now deposited at Sangolim. I am wriling to the Most
Felicitous Madou Rao Narana for permission to disembark
them in consideration of the excellent amily that exists belween
the two powers ahd to allow the said merchantg to carry on
their trade in this city., And I direct you to apply tothe
(Peshwas') Government and urge them to permit the disembar-
cation of the said stuffs and a Sanad for the same merchants
-for freely continuing their trade in this city, Goa, 16th
October, 1481, F. G. de Souza. (Reis Visinhos, Tomo 11, fol,
125.) A letter, as the above Epigtle tells us, was wrilten to the
Peshwa also and the request of the Portuguese Government
was pranted (22 If;ebruary, 1782, R. V., 11, fol. 143.)

The Portuguese records donot fail to throw light upon other
aspects of the Maratha Government, Their religious poliey was
liberal and tolerant and Christian subjeets in Bassein and other
places were pegmitted to exerciss the old righis that they
enfdyed under the Porluguese Government. On the zrd July,
1801, the Sarsubedar of Bassein was informed by the Peshwa
Baji Rao I, * The Honourable Vilal, Rao Gorqui, the agent
of the Portuguese (Government at Goa, vepresented to the
Government (the Marathi original must be Huzur) at the
residence of Poona, that since the Distipt of Bassein passed

Jrom the Partuguese Government to that»of (he Sarkar, the -
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administration of the churches, mantained in this province

from ancient times, have been conducted by the Padres and
their disciples have been directed and punished in conformity
with their religion without any impediment from the Sarkar,
"and he beggéed that this order should, be sent for the conser-
vation of this practice. We have decided, as the Padres may
kill ¢ows, Lo prohibil that practice entirely. As for the'religious
usages, the Padres will instruct their disciples according to
the abservances practised from ancient times and those who
do not go to the mass will be punished as in the past without
any impediment from Your Honour,” (Biker, Tomo X, p. 276.) "
Befoie concluding we may observe that the Portuguese
politictans hyd nat failed to find out the real source of Maratha
weakness %ﬂla Vyankat Rao appeared at Margao, the
Portnguese addressed a number of letters fo Naro Ram
Mantri and they fried their best to exploit the difference that
existed among  (he principal Maratha officers. They even
atlempted to alienate Shahu from his too powerlul Piime
Minister.  This policy was pursued even after the death of
Shahu as we learn {rom the instructions that the Marquis of
Alorna left for his successor. It is no wonder that the
Portuguese or the English should {ry Lo take advantage of
the jealousy and misunderstandifg that prevailed among the
Maratha chiefs, but what is surprising that nol only Naro .
Ram who had no particular reason [or i;lemifying himself”
with the Peshwa'’s cause but ecven Bahidopant Mehendale
and Anu Bai the sister of Baj "Rao, should~ constitute
themselves the guardians of PFortuguese interest at the Poona
Court, Bahiropanta Mchendale is styled as * procurador ”
(Agent or Attorney) of the DPortuguese Government al Poapa,
in a letter of the Secretary of State to Naraena Sinay and also
in a letter addressed by Gangadhar Panta, Subedar of Gheria,
to the Governor of Goa (Bikery, Tomo X, pp. 176.17%).
When Tenenle Coronel ], Phillipe del.andreset was sent on an
embassy to the cousirofl Balaji Baji Rao in 1759, he was told

»
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by his official superiors © “ you will be assisted at the cort of
Pana by some persons devoted to the Portuguese Government
as well ag by Anu Bai, «aunt of Nana (Balaji Bajr Rao), and he
son Naracna Veneata Rao and the Nabobo Mujefmwr;mgn Al
others whom you must trml with the ereatest mbanity,” (Bikey
Vol. VI, pp  159-165 ) ln March 1, 171, Naan Vithal,
the Portuguese Agent at Poona, wrole to his employees that
the best way of gettng anything achieved would 'be to make
presenls of precious clothes  This s also confirmed by the
evidence of Enghsh writers fike I'ryer and Dioughion  The
Maratha officer was open o bribe and when he got a present
he was quite willng Lo oblige the party (hat  wsive it
irrespective of his nationality and without pausingrto consider
the interests of the State. In short persenal™interest pre
ponderated over that of the State and as the feudal or tr.mlmtttun
of the Maratha cmpire had led to the ercation within its fold of
a large number of semi-independent states, it steadily declined
in power as its sohdaiity was being unmistakably and quickly
impaired.

This reporl does not claim {o be exhaustive and i aspires
only (o indicate what new [Lght the Portuguese vecords can
‘throw on ,Indian History, 1 examined, av I have previously
stated, some of the pub]mhcd records and ouly one seetion ol
ﬂzht:—': unpublished records preserved at Gon [ had no time to
o through the Juwras dos Aongas, Livros dos Pazes and
Livras dos Cu .’lff/fﬁ'.ﬂ', but 1t has Dbeen amply demonstrated (hat
the students of Maratha #hstory cannot be indifferent Lo the
original Poituguese sources and as very [ew of these records
have hitherto been published, the Portugucse archives still
offeya Iruittul field fol study and research to all students of
mwdun ludian Fistory
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